Tackling deadly diseases in Africa





TACKLING DEADLY DISEASES IN AFRICA: KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR EPIDEMIC RESPONSE AND PREPAREDNESS IN UGANDA

David Kaawa-Mafigiri, Francis Kato, and Megan Schmidt-Sane

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND KEY IMPLICATIONS

Uganda faces a high burden of communicable disease alongside a growing burden of non-communicable disease. While its surveillance and response systems are strong, there are key gaps highlighted in this brief, particularly in implementation and in rural parts of the country. Key implications for epidemic preparedness and response are presented here.

- The private health sector is largely unregulated and uncoordinated, yet it represents roughly half of all health services in Uganda.
 - In the short term, outbreak response teams can engage a wide array of private health sector actors: 'drug shop' owners and staff, private health facility doctors and nurses, and traditional healers. They can be provided with training and mechanisms to link into an outbreak response system.
- Traditional healers, spiritual healers, and herbalists are key actors who provide complementary and alternative medicine services in Uganda. Healers often practice more than one of these and specific beliefs and practices vary by cultural group.
 - There is a need for a systematic assessment of each culture's health beliefs, local etymologies, and understandings of disease is necessary.
 - Traditional healers should not be stigmatised or treated as 'less than' health providers. Respecting differences in belief and medical practice can help establish collaborative relationships for better epidemic control.

- Academic institutions play a key role in providing technical expertise to the Ministry of Health, District Health Offices, and other non-governmental actors. Local social scientists can leverage existing research and in-country experience to provide rapid insights for outbreak response.
 - It is important to liaise with relevant local social scientists to provide insights on context, history, and political economy of the area where the outbreak is situated.
- Community trust in epidemic response is a vital aspect of how and when communities take up public health guidance. Meaningful community engagement is also key.
 - To improve trust, there should be transparency and honesty in terms of what needs to be achieved. Public health guidance and health services should be adapted to different populations, in terms of their cultural preferences and livelihood constraints.
 - Engaging with trusted interlocutors will be one way to improve community buy-in to response activities. This may include NGOs, other community-based organisations, religious leaders, or local leaders, depending on context.
- The identification of vulnerable populations depends on context, and should occur at the local level. However, there are key considerations for vulnerable populations, including:
 - Vulnerabilities of urban poor, border populations, refugees and displaced people, the Karamojong, youth, and women and girls, should be considered. Epidemic response actors should include specific ways to mitigate vulnerabilities during an outbreak. For example, consider the ways that caregiving can put women at heightened risk of disease.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Executive summary and key implications	1
Introduction	4
Health system	5
Burden of disease	5
Public health system	6
Private health sector	8
Health seeking and local explanations of disease	10
Infectious disease outbreaks, response and preparedness	12
Disease risk and vulnerability	12
Vulnerable populations	
Epidemic and outbreak response governance	
Case studies of epidemic preparedness and response	
Communication and transport	
Governance and key actors	
Community experiences and responses	
Ongoing challenges and recommendations	
Key implications for outbreak and epidemic response	
Key actors	
Social science institutions	
Organisations involved in epidemic response in uganda	
Other organisations addressing health issues in uganda	
Acknowledgements	
Annexe: Additional history and context	
Country context	
Political economy and colonialism	
Social groups, structures, and relations	
References	

INTRODUCTION

Recent political tensions in Uganda have underscored numerous challenges that the country faces related to rising inequality, joblessness, and a demographic youth 'bulge' driving tensions between a gerontocratic state and politically active youth. The country is not only socially but also geographically bifurcated, with a divide between the North and the South. The former has faced decades of conflict, numerous ecological challenges and climate change pressure, and has received less development aid than the more prosperous South. Meanwhile, its geographic location positions it as a source of stability relative to current or recently conflict-affected areas such as South Sudan, Eastern Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), Rwanda, Somalia, and Ethiopia, all of which are home countries of refugees who have come to Uganda in large numbers over the years. While Uganda's health systems are consistently strained, its epidemic response system is more robust after years of experience tackling various disease outbreaks.

In this brief, lessons from past epidemics are presented with key implications for future preparedness and response. These lessons are embedded in Uganda's context, including



its political economy, governance, and health financing structure. The brief is structured as follows: 1) an overview of the country's health system, including both the public and private health sectors; and 2) key issues related to infectious disease outbreaks, response, and preparedness and 3) a list of key actors with which early responders may want to engage in activities. The brief closes with response implications and recommendations for future epidemic preparedness and response in Uganda. An annexe provides more in-depth presentation of basic context, history and political economy, and social groups and organisation. This technical brief was prepared by the Institute of Development Studies to support the embedding of social science and anthropological perspectives in UK AID-supported Tackling Deadly Diseases in Africa (TDDA) programme technical assistance as well as its Early Response Mechanism.

HEALTH SYSTEM

BURDEN OF DISEASE

Uganda's life expectancy at birth is 68.2 years (66 years for men, 70.5 for women).¹ The under-five mortality rate^a is 45.8 deaths per 1,000 live births.² Uganda's burden of disease is dominated by communicable diseases, which account for over 50% of morbidity and mortality.³ The country faces major infectious and vector-borne disease threats (Figure 1), including tuberculosis (TB), bacterial, diarrhoea, hepatitis A and E, typhoid fever, malaria, dengue fever, sleeping sickness, and schistosomiasis.⁴ It has a high HIV prevalence, although it reduced from 25-30% in the 1980s⁵ to 5.7%⁶ today. While anti-retroviral therapy (ART) is free and widely available especially in urban areas, HIV/AIDS remains one of the top ten causes of death in the country. There is also a growing burden of non-communicable diseases (NCDs), including mental health disorders.³ Maternal and child health also remain a key concern, although much progress has been made since 2000. Rural areas remain affected by neglected tropical diseases (NTDs), reflecting wider disparities across the country between urban and rural areas.³



^a Probability of dying by age 5 per 1000 live births.

PUBLIC HEALTH SYSTEM

The modern public health system emerged from a dual system of primary health care and 'missionary medicine' developed in the colonial era. The former sought to improve the health of 'the people' and prevent the spread of disease, while the missions were more focused on individual-level health and curative aspects of disease.⁷ The contemporary health system in Uganda is also pluralistic.⁸⁻¹¹ It entails both a public and private biomedical system that operates alongside other private alternative healing systems available to the population.¹²⁻¹⁴ The public sector accounts for 44% of services.³ In 2000, Uganda began applying a Sector-Wide Approach (SWAp) to improve coordination and harmonisation of support for health systems strengthening and to align with global initiatives and priorities.³ Uganda's

Box 1. Uganda's Health System

- The health system is pluralistic, with public, private, and traditional forms of health services.
- Health financing is largely donor-led, and donor funding is mostly allocated toward specific diseases (HIV, TB, Malaria, etc.).
- Health access is largely determined based on residence, with large disparities between urban and rural areas.
- User fees were introduced in the 1990s to cover curative services, but these were abolished in 2001.
- The private and traditional health sectors are largely un- or underregulated, but make up at least half of the country's health system.

health sector is mainly financed by households (41%) and development partners (42%), with smaller contributions coming from the government (16%).¹⁵ Uganda is a recipient of funds from the GAVI Alliance, the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria, and other mechanisms. Donor funding (70%) is primarily allocated to HIV, TB, malaria and sexually transmitted diseases (STDs). The health sector remains heavily dependent on disease-specific financing.¹⁵ Uganda's health system faces many challenges. Rapid population growth fuelled by high fertility rates, combined with a high burden of disease, continues to strain the current health system.¹⁶

The public health system in Uganda is tiered with a decentralization structure that mirrors the administrative governance structures.¹⁷ Health facilities in Uganda are classified into seven levels based on the services they provide and the catchment area they serve. The health facilities are designated as Health Centre Level one (HC I) to Health Centre Level four (HC IV); and General Hospital, Regional Referral Hospital and National Specialized Referral Hospital.¹⁸ At the district level, the health system is composed of different structures where the lowest level within the community is Health Centre I (HCI) (composed of Village Health Team members) followed by Health Centres II, III, IV.¹⁷ This ranking is based on population size in the catchment area, ranging from HCIs where each Village Health Team VHT serves approximately 1000 persons or 25 households in less densely populated areas.^{17, 18}



Academic institutions in the health system

Academic institutions play a large role in Uganda's health system, particularly in terms of providing technical expertise. This involvement provides a backstop in terms of technical support to both government ministries and departments, NGOs and development partners, and emergency response to a health crisis.^{19, 20} Technical expertise has been in the form of knowledge generation (research), policy formulation, and programme design.^{21, 22} However, it is only in recent history that they have diversified away from the biomedical health perspective to other health components that are key to supporting epidemic response. The role of academic institutions has been crucial including in setting up systems for response.^{20, 23, 24} In the case of HIV for example, Makerere University working collaboratively with the Ministry of Health and other stakeholders in the private sector, established the Joint Clinical Research Centre (JCRC) which has greatly contributed to the HIV response.²⁵ During the current COVID-19 pandemic, academic institutions have contributed to innovations including in prevention and providing guidance on tackling the social issues around pandemics.²⁶ Working with local social scientists is key to addressing the social dimensions of epidemic response. They have also provided extra manpower to address staffing gaps in the health system particularly through internships.27

PRIVATE HEALTH SECTOR

The private health sector is comprised of the private not-for-profit (PFNP) health care providers, private health practitioners, clinics, and hospitals, and traditional and complementary medical practitioners. Together, the private health sector accounts for roughly 50% of health care delivery.¹⁵

Despite this, Uganda lacks a governance structure to manage a mixed health delivery system.¹⁶ As a result, the country has a largely unregulated private sector²⁸ with varying standards for laboratory practices, pharmaceuticals, and other

Box 2. The role of the private sector in fighting disease outbreaks

In 2017, an outbreak of Marburg Virus Disease occurred in Eastern Uganda in Kween District on the border with Kenya. The Ugandan government quickly responded with rapid diagnosis, testing and tracing of the index case, and isolation for any contacts. Critical to this response was the private sector, which aided in identifying and containing the outbreak. The private sector, while integral to health security, has not sufficiently been engaged in Uganda's outbreak response. The private sector can engage with the public sector and civil society to address gaps in epidemic preparedness, through supply chain management, communications, and research and development. (see Osewe & Mensah, 2017)

health services. This is particularly of note in rural areas, where expired drugs can be found for sale in pharmacies or health facilities. A baseline survey of the pharmaceutical sector found that 21% of public facilities and 10.5% of private pharmacies had 1 or more expired drugs on their shelves.²⁹

Private Not-For-Profit (PFNP)

PFNP health care providers include organisations founded and run by religious groups, NGOs, or other philanthropic organisations. The majority of the PFNP facilities fall under three umbrella organisations: the Uganda Catholic Medical Bureau (UCMB), the Uganda Protestant Medical Bureau (UPMB), and the Uganda Muslim Medical Bureau (UCMB).³⁰ Together, these three entities own 78% of the PNFP facilities in the country.³¹ These organisations commonly work with government and other counterparts and engage in work beyond direct health provision, such as advocacy, health education, or community engagement. A considerable percentage of these facilities are located in rural areas.³¹

Private for Profit (PFP)

In accordance with the Ugandan Ministry of Health (MoH) definitions, the PFP sector includes all health providers (e.g., clinical, dental, diagnostics, pharmacy) who provide services outside of the public, PNFP, and traditional health sectors.³¹ This definition focuses on formal private health providers, the majority of which are pharmacies or 'drug shops,' which are very common and more widely available than health facilities or clinics.³²

PFPs provide mainly primary level outpatient services, including curative services such as the treatment of common illnesses, malaria, or pneumonia. Twelve per-cent of the sector includes Health Centre IV facilities, operating as smaller hospitals with inpatient care and surgical capabilities.³² PFP facilities tend to be located around urban areas.³²

Traditional healers, spiritual healers, and herbalists

There are three main categories of traditional medical practitioners in Uganda, includina traditional healers, spiritual healers, and herbalists, although their practice varies by region. However, healers often engage in more than one of these practices. Traditional healers are widely consulted for treatment of various illnesses, which may be biological or spiritual. Traditional healers³³ rely on local knowledge handed down over generations.⁹ This traditional medicine, or 'complementary and alternative medicine' (CAM) knowledge is based on indigenous beliefs, local plants and herbs, and spiritual understanding.³⁴ It refers to practices based on these beliefs, knowledge, and skills recognised bv traditional communities provide to

Box 3. Engaging traditional healers for epidemic response

Traditional healers are often portrayed as obstacles to epidemic response and control. However, it is important to engage traditional healers as partners in epidemic response, given their role on the 'front lines' of health care in Uganda. The CDC worked with Ugandan counterparts to train traditional healers how to identify symptoms of the plague in northwest Uganda. In this rural region, community members often turn to traditional healers and herbalists as a first point-of-contact for illness. The CDC now has a network of traditional healers in the region who have referred more than 150 patients to local hospitals and their work stopped a case of pneumonic plague from spreading further. (see Doucleff, 2013)

healthcare through the use of herbs and other naturally occurring substances. Spiritual healers, on the other hand, manage illnesses caused by spiritual disturbances, and attribute their powers to ancestral spirits that previously occupied the region.³⁵ Lastly, herbalists use plants, herbs, and other natural substances to treat and cure a variety of illnesses. These methods usually reflect social, cultural, and religious practices embedded in local beliefs.

There is no legal framework for the practice and use of traditional medicine in Uganda and therefore, traditional medicine is largely unregulated. However, the National Health Policy mandated in 1987 that all traditional herbalists and other practitioners must register.³⁴ Local government officials allow traditional practitioners to operate through the payment of tax or other association fees, but this varies by district and locale.³⁴ Despite this lack of clear regulation at the national level, traditional healers and herbalists operate openly. Spiritual healers and 'witch doctors,' on the other hand carry some stigma and operate less openly.³⁴

Health seeking behaviour

Several key factors affect health seeking behaviour in Uganda, including access and availability of health services, trust in health care providers,³⁶ religious and spiritual beliefs, and local cultural understandings of disease, which are discussed in this section.37-42 Higher income levels have been found to be associated with increased health care usage, especially for women.⁴³ There is also evidence that levels of education are consistently associated with preferences for private health care in the country, indicating negative attitudes toward the public health sector.43

Box 4. Health-seeking behaviour and Rift Valley Fever (RVF)

The AViD project recently worked with NGOs in southern Uganda to respond to zoonotic diseases, including RVF, and understand the role of healthseeking behaviour. The project identified who community members turn to for health services, finding that traditional and spiritual healers are relied upon and trusted as sources of care not only for human health, but also animal health concerns. То detect outbreaks earlier, the project recommended simple referral pathways for traditional health care providers to link farmers to veterinary professionals in case zoonotic disease symptoms are seen. A key lesson is the importance of acknowledging and engaging with alternative care providers. (see Bowmer, 2020)

Health care access

Vulnerable and rural populations are the least able to access Uganda's formal health system, given its patchwork coverage outside of urban centres. While health facilities at level I or II are most commonly used, pharmacies and drug shops are also a point of contact as most medications are available without a doctor's prescription.³⁷ One study in three rural districts found that 95.7% of all 445 facilities surveyed were private, while just 4.3% were public.⁴⁴ Of all the households that had experienced illness in the last month, care was sought in 54.1% of cases.⁴⁴ Many challenges have been reported in accessing health facilities, from regular drug stockouts, to high cost of services, and long distances to those health facilities.^{37, 45}

Due to this paucity of public health care in rural Uganda, health care related internal migration and rural-urban movement play an important role in health-care seeking. Movement from rural to urban areas to bypass referral systems is common especially when the situation is severe.^{46, 47} Biomedical health infrastructure in the urban settings is more readily available with quality services compared to the rural areas.^{48, 49}

Religion, spiritual beliefs, and health pluralism

Ugandan society is predominantly Christian, with Catholic (39.3%), Anglican (32.0%) and Pentecostal (including Born Again and Evangelical) (11.1%) faiths being the most common.¹ A large proportion (13.7%) of Ugandans also practice Islam. For many people, their faiths are practiced in combination with traditional beliefs particularly with regard to healing processes. It is common to find persons seeking care from multiple sources that include both biomedical, spiritual and traditional herbal or spiritual healing.^{35, 50} As such, for illnesses with unknown or unclear aetiology, many take a mixed approach to health care seeking, relying on more than one form of care such as both traditional healers and medical doctors. This may sometimes be detrimental to efforts to control epidemics if approached from a conventional public health lens, which focuses predominantly

Box 5. Beliefs and cultural logics

- Major religions in Uganda include Christianity and Islam. Many people practice both an Abrahamic faith and a traditional one. This is not seen as contradictory or paradoxical.
- Past research has shown how many turn to traditional healers to manage mental and chronic health conditions, while public health and biomedicine are typically preferred to manage infectious disease.
- Evidence from past Ebola epidemics demonstrate cultural logics that often match epidemiological standards for disease control.
- Health enhancing beliefs and practices that are indigenous to an area can be bolstered during an epidemic response. Working with a community in this collaborative way could result in a more trusted response.

biomedical approaches.³⁵ However, as discussed above, it is important to include both medical and traditional health providers in an epidemic preparedness and response plan.

Local understandings of infectious disease

These pluralistic beliefs are emblematic in anthropological and other social science research on cultural logics underpinning disease in Uganda.^{8,35,40,51,52} Research in Uganda has produced a rich understanding of cultural logics related to illness and disease. However, treatment preferences vary and are influenced by perceptions about the cause of illness.⁵³ Mental health, chronic illness, and infectious disease are managed differently, and often more than one form of treatment is sought.⁵⁴ Cultural logics and beliefs are also not static in relation to disease, and therefore these beliefs should be considered as dynamic, subject to change, and relational to forms of trust in authority or health providers.^{51, 55} This is evident in the HIV epidemic, where local constructions of AIDS changed and shifted according to the progress of the epidemic. The initial construction of the disease changed from what local authorities had put forth in terms of associated HIV and poor moral behaviour.⁵⁶ A hybrid model emerged that incorporated biological features of HIV with these moralistic framings. Similarly, in Northern Uganda's Ebola epidemic, there was a shift in how Ebola was understood as the epidemic progressed. At first, it was thought to be tied to spiritual causes, but as it became clear that the cause

was infectious, communities began to rely on their own protocols for epidemic containment and isolation of the sick.⁵⁵

Subscribing to pluralistic models of healing influences the models of disease, health and wellbeing that community members in Uganda adopt.^{9, 35} However, public health remains critically important in epidemic response.⁵³ Infectious diseases are often managed through preferred routes of public health service delivery and biomedical care. In cases of uncertainty during disease outbreaks, a tangible commodity like medicine may provide a concrete pathway to healing.^{57, 58} Research on the HIV epidemic in Uganda showed how patients sought care from multiple providers, both biomedical and traditional, but there was often an unwillingness to disclose herbal medicine use to biomedical doctors.^{59, 60}

A growing literature on the way community members describe the models of healing they adopt exists particularly for disease outbreaks and epidemics.⁶¹ Hewlett and Hewlett (2007) conducted ethnographic research during an ongoing Ebola epidemic in Northern Uganda, in Acholi land. They described the Acholi cultural model for epidemics, which described diseases as "coming like the wind," meaning coming quickly and with wide spatial distribution.^{55, 62} They recommended that all health care workers should understand indigenous cultural models for disease. They also provided a framework to describe health enhancing versus health lowering beliefs and practices. Health enhancing beliefs and practices can be bolstered by local epidemic response, to design a response that is consistent with a local cultural logic, with the caveat that these are subject to change. The Acholi, and many other Ugandan populations, have an extensive protocol for controlling epidemics, from isolation to sanitation. If intervention teams view local communities as allies, local communities will in turn likely want to help with control efforts.⁵⁵

INFECTIOUS DISEASE OUTBREAKS, RESPONSE AND PREPAREDNESS

DISEASE RISK AND VULNERABILITY

Endemic disease and seasonal emergence

Uganda is an ecological hotspot with multiple factors contributing to its vulnerability to disease epidemics. It is geographically near the Congo Basin, faces climate change pressure on its ecosystems, and hosts a large number of international and regional travellers as well as refugees.⁶³ Recent political instability compounds the country's vulnerabilities⁶⁴ and poses a threat to future governance of any epidemic response.

Recent national disasters, including locusts, food shortages,⁶⁵ landslides, and flooding⁶⁶ also contribute. Uganda has a long wet season and hot yearly temperatures that shape the country's vulnerability to disease threats.⁶⁷ As water sources increase, water-borne illnesses (typhoid, cholera) spread at a faster pace, soil borne illnesses (hookworm, roundworm)⁶⁸ spread more easily, and mosquitoes breed rapidly.⁶⁷ During the dry, hot months, more respiratory diseases emerge due to air-borne illnesses and pollution. One study on the plague (*Yersinia pestis*) in Uganda found that climate was a useful predictor for disease emergence, as plague emerged more frequently in the wet season. Uganda also lies in the El Nino Southern Oscillation, which causes more extreme weather events and has been correlated with a more severe malaria outbreak, outbreaks of cholera and Rift Valley Fever.⁶⁷ Further, Uganda had the highest number of outbreak events in the WHO African region in 2018. This could be related to its surveillance and reporting systems, but also reflects the burden of disease in the country.⁶⁹

VULNERABLE POPULATIONS

Urban poor

A key challenge in Uganda is managing rapid urbanization, where urban inequality (see Appendix) and rising numbers in informal settlements present twin challenges to urban management and health.⁷⁰⁻⁷³ Meanwhile, there has been a lack of coordinated urban development.⁷⁴⁻⁷⁶ In response, ad hoc spaces ballooned to house the many urban migrants.⁷⁷ Ugandan informal settlements are marked by lack of land tenure, poor housing conditions, and inadequate access to basic services and amenities, engendering high levels of vulnerability.⁷⁸ Low-income urban populations remain one of the most vulnerable in Uganda where they face multiple, compounded vulnerabilities related to social determinants of health such as economic insecurity, social marginalisation, overpolicing, lack of water and sanitation, unstable housing, and food insecurity.⁷⁸⁻⁸⁰ Low-income urban residents face higher rates of HIV prevalence, with urban women particularly vulnerable.⁸¹ TB prevalence is also unacceptably high in informal settlements, with a prevalence of 3.5%.⁸¹

Border populations

Many of Uganda's borders are porous and border populations cross mainly through informal points of entry.^{82–84} These borderlands are also characterised by heavy crossborder traffic due to trade and other livelihood activities, as well as humanitarian emergencies that have led to a large numbers of refugees in Uganda.⁸⁵ Such social events have led to increased risk of infectious diseases as well as other health problems. Vulnerability among these groups remains high and some evidence suggests that during epidemic outbreaks they have been labelled as a cause of an outbreak.⁸³ The border districts of the western part of Uganda have borne the brunt of most epidemics and outbreaks of infectious diseases. Between 2017-2018, for example, 8 disease outbreaks were identified, including anthrax, Congo-Crimean Haemorrhagic Fever (CCHF), Marburg Virus, Rift Valley Fever (RVF), measles, cholera, meningitis, and rubella. All eight outbreaks included border districts, predominantly in the west.⁸⁶⁻⁸⁹ The Equatorial rain forest vegetation coupled with the Rift Valley and Rwenzori mountain ranges that form part of the border with Rwanda and DRC provide the perfect context for human-animal interaction, known to be a major factor in many emerging and reemerging diseases.⁸⁸ In response to COVID-19, Uganda has had stronger containment measures in border communities for longer periods of time, with restrictions on movement, curfews, and contact tracing.⁹⁰

Refugees and displaced people

Uganda is the fourth largest refugee hosting nation in the world, as more than 1 million refugees arrived between 2016-2018 from various countries.⁹¹ Refugees are largely concentrated along the Uganda-South Sudan border. The government has sustained refugees' rights to employment, entrepreneurship, and free movement since 2006.⁹² The country has also experienced historical internal displacement in the North, long-standing inflows of refugees from neighbouring countries, and constant circular flows across borders in border communities.^{85, 93} Large numbers of northern Acholi people were displaced into camps during the Lord's Resistance Army insurgence between 1986-2006, although they have since returned to the community.⁹⁴ While many refugees live in refugee camps, some are integrated into Uganda's cities or in rural communities. These urban refugee populations may be less well connected to local support structures and may face challenges accessing services and information.⁹⁵ There are regional differences, as many refugees in West Nile in Northwest Uganda live in refugee camps rather than the region's cities.

Box 6. A prolonged cholera outbreak in Kyangwali refugee settlement, Hoima District, Western Uganda, 2018

On February 23, 2018, a cholera outbreak was declared in Kyangwali Refugee Settlement in Western Uganda, affecting more than 60 people. The outbreak was linked to inadequate water supplies in the settlement, where there was only one official water source (e.g., tank water). Because of long queues at the tank, residents resorted to alternate water sources (e.g., stream or spring water), regardless of how safe it was perceived to be. Nearby DRC was also facing a cholera outbreak at the time, and this was likely the source of crossover into Uganda. However, because of a lack of clean water and sanitation, cholera was able to spread into the settlement. (Monje et al., 2020)

Karamojong

The Karamoja region^b in northeastern Uganda is one of the most marginalised and vulnerable in the country.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁹ Its population, the Karamojong, face lower health indicators, including an infant mortality rate of 123 per 1,000 live births compared to the national average of 76 deaths. The region is primarily inhabited by pastoralists, with a history of small-scale conflict between other pastoralist groups in the area. The region faces frequent drought leading to chronic food insecurity⁹⁷ and widespread economic insecurity. Various programs have focused on distributing food aid, building livelihood resilience, diversifying sources of income, and improving technologies to increase food security. Major disease risks typically relate to human-animal interactions, including Rift Valley Fever¹⁰⁰ and Marburg virus disease.¹⁰¹ Cholera outbreaks have also recently occurred. In August 2020, an outbreak of cholera in Kotido District affected over 100 people.¹⁰² The disease spread due to low access to improved sanitation in the district, with only 4% able to access latrines. In the last 10 years or so, the World Health Organization has worked to scale up epidemic preparedness and response in Karamoja, where large numbers of emergency, cholera and meningitis kits, and other field supplies were stockpiled, although the region remains underserved.¹⁰³

Youth

Uganda is undergoing demographic change driven by rapidly increasing numbers of youth in the country.^{104–106} It is also experiencing political upheaval (see Appendix) facilitated by economic policies and exclusionary development, which maps onto a youthful population. Such struggles have been united since 2017, under the leadership of the popular opposition leader determined to unseat President Museveni.^{64, 107} Member of Parliament Robert Kyagulanyi grew up in one of Kampala's informal settlements, Kamwokya. He taps into youth frustrations with socio-economic inequality.^{64, 108–110} Political tensions are likely to increase in the run up to the 2021 elections. ¹⁰⁸ This has implications for the urban poor's trust in central government and perceptions of genocide amongst opposition supporters, as has occurred with Ebola in Sierra Leone and Guinea. In the wake of these elections, there is likely to be conflict and continued mistrust in the government, regardless of the outcome.

Women and girls

Many local societies are structured by heteronormative and patriarchal logics. Men are expected to be economic providers, heads of household, and decision-makers. ^{111–113} As per normative social ideals, gender hierarchy and interdependence is seen as essential for

^b The Karamoja region includes Kaabong, Kotido, Moroto, Napak, Abim, Nakapiripirit, and Amudat districts.

social stability and personal well-being. ^{111, 114} In the Western border districts in Uganda, among Banyoro, Batoro, Bakonzo, and Bafumbira populations, everyday life reflects the observance of patriarchal norms, where men tend to have more power and dominance especially in access to resources, caregiving, and family life.¹¹⁵ Women are often expected to serve as caregivers both at home and in health care settings, while men often spend more time away from home in an attempt to provide for the family. Socio-cultural expectations include the following gendered domains that may influence women's risk of getting sick:

- Childbearing as part of women's sphere, where for instance only women are allowed to be in the room as supporters or birthing attendants.¹¹⁶
- Women are the caretakers for the ill in a household, and therefore will cook, clean, and provide informal healthcare.^{117, 118}
- During burial rituals women are often more involved in the tactile aspects of burial that involve close contact with the body including cleaning it, performing rituals, and watching over the body prior to burial. Men have other ritual roles in burial.^{119, 120}

These gender roles and expectations of women extend to the economic sphere including engagement in diverse livelihood strategies.¹²¹⁻¹²³ In rural areas of Uganda, women are more likely engaged in agricultural or small-scale economic activities, including crop and small livestock farming, cottage industries (e.g. local alcohol brewing, handicrafts), some farm labouring, and market vending or trading.¹²³ Therefore, with additional responsibilities women's diverse gender roles should be considered during an outbreak response, in addition to caregiving.

EPIDEMIC AND OUTBREAK RESPONSE GOVERNANCE

Disease surveillance

Uganda has strong surveillance mechanisms and actors (Table 1) to engage in ongoing disease surveillance and rapidly deploy targeted surveillance in the case of an outbreak or epidemic. The country adopted and has been implementing an Integrated Disease Surveillance (IDSR) strategy since 2000.^{124, 125} This was implemented with the goal of building capacity to detect,

Box 7. Epidemic Response

- Uganda has implemented an Integrated Disease Surveillance strategy which has improved disease surveillance and linkages to other parts of the health system.
- Uganda's epidemic response is activated through its Public Health Emergency Operations Centre and the National Task Force, which activates a multisectoral collaborating and planning body to manage a disease.
- Uganda has extensive experience in managing epidemics, but the funding and manpower required often detracts from health systems strengthening.
- Trust in the response varies based on the type of stakeholder, but there are typologies of mistrust based on relationship with the government. There is often mistrust of the government (the army, government health workers), but international stakeholders are not generally mistrusted.

report, and respond to public health emergencies. Whilst the program was initially successful, insufficient funding undermined these goals.¹²⁴ The program was revitalised in 2012, with widespread training of health workers, district rapid response teams, and district task forces. IDSR implementation has been coordinated and monitored by the NTF in collaboration with the WHO Country Office. Through improved funding, comprehensive training, and the engagement of local district leadership, the program has been successful. The engagement of local leadership improved ownership, accountability, and sustainability of the programme.

Table 1. Key actors in surveillance under the Ministry of Health $^{\scriptscriptstyle 63}$

- Division of Health information
- Public Health Emergency Operations Centre
- Uganda Public Health Fellowship Program (UPHFP)
- National Reference Laboratories (Uganda Virus Research Institute, UVRI)
- Uganda National Health Laboratory Services (UNHLS)
- *Surveillance of zoonotic diseases*: National Animal Disease Diagnostics and Epidemiology Centre (NADDEC) under Ministry of Agriculture, Animal Industry and Fisheries (MAAIF) and the Zoonotic Disease Coordination Unit (ZDCU)

Epidemic response infrastructure

important Uganda is an site to understand the dynamics of epidemic response and local perceptions of that response. When an epidemic is in its early stages, Uganda's national government initiates a multi-step plan to manage it.¹²⁶ In Uganda, epidemic and emergency response is structured around the public health system and managed through a National Task Force and a number of subcommittees. The Uganda Ministry of Health (MoH) activates the Public Health Emergency Operations Centre (PHEOC) and the National Task Force (NTF) for

Box 8. Multisectoral leadership for Ebola response The NTF is chaired by President Museveni, which gives it the political clout that is critical to its successes. Political leadership and commitment played a large role in containing Ebola in Uganda during the DRC epidemic (2018-2019). Investments in infrastructure, capacities, and institutional networks played a key role in containing its spread. The NTF is led by multiple sector leads, which integration across ensures all pillars of preparedness and response. In 2019, the Ministry of Health and its partners carried out a full-scale simulation exercise that enabled the country to identify gaps and fix these gaps prior to COVID-19.

public health emergencies to plan, guide, and coordinate preparedness and response to epidemics in the country.^{26, 127} The NTF is represented by multiple sectors and disciplines, including key ministries, agencies, departments, partners, and stakeholders who are engaged through the main task force and its various subcommittees (Figure 3).²⁶



The NTF selects an Incident Management Team (IMT), which is made up of a National Rapid Response Team (NRRT) that supported activation of the District Task Forces (DTFs) and District Rapid Response Teams (DRRTs). The IMT manages preparedness, resource management, communication, and information management. The IMT includes six subcommittee team leads, which can vary based on the emergency: 1) epidemiological surveillance, 2) case management and infection prevention and control (IPC) including safe burials, 3) risk communication and community engagement, 4) vaccination, therapeutics, and research, 5) emergency coordination, and 6) logistics.²⁶ Subcommittees ensure sound evidence-based decisions are made, mobilise the population to contribute resources to respond to an emergency and the IMT helps to ensure cohesion, adherence and enforcement of the Government decisions.

In the case of disease outbreaks and epidemics, biomedical services are integrated as part of the health services delivery system right from the national (central planning) to the district and local community level. Therefore, responsibility for the delivery of health services, including epidemic control rests with local district governments, each operating under the mandate of the national task force.

Epidemic response coordination

The MoH works with World Health Organization (WHO) and Africa CDC guidance as well as other international organisations (UNICEF, International Federation of the Red Cross, etc.) to enhance community-based surveillance systems, develop and disseminate risk communication messages, engage communities, reinforce disease emergency screening and infection prevention measures at Points of Entry (PoEs) and in high-risk health facilities, construct and equip isolation and treatment units, and establish coordination and procurement mechanisms.²⁶

Box 9. Political economy of epidemic response in Uganda

It is often said that epidemics prey on society's fault lines. Inequalities become starker as epidemics allow the wealthy to continue to thrive, while the poor not only bear the brunt of the disease burden, but also the economic impact of any public health measures. This is clear during COVID-19 and also during other outbreaks in Uganda, such as Ebola. With Uganda's lockdown, the urban poor suffered disproportionately as informal workers were suddenly left jobless. Many informal settlement residents, who stay in lodges or guest houses and pay daily rates for their housing were also left homeless when these closed.

Moreover, COVID-19 has mapped onto a particular political moment in Uganda. With ongoing political tensions, President Museveni recently used COVID-19 public health measures as pretext for arresting the opposition leader during a rally. This serves to erode public trust not only in the government, but it will have negative impacts on public health guidance in the future. It is imperative that epidemic response is not necessarily 'depoliticised,' which is an unrealistic standard, but that it draws on a better politics that centres human welfare rather than political gain. (see the Annexe for additional detail)

CASE STUDIES OF EPIDEMIC PREPAREDNESS AND RESPONSE

Uganda has a long and storied history of responding to disease outbreaks in the country. However, this history has also been marked by challenges related to financing, coordination, and community engagement. This section reviews key aspects of disease outbreak management, with specific case studies as appropriate.

Case Study: HIV/AIDS

Uganda's devastating HIV/AIDS epidemic, which peaked in the late 1980s, set the stage for much of the country's subsequent handling of epidemic diseases and outbreaks.¹²⁸ It also set up epidemic response and preparedness as a largely parallel system that is not well integrated with the country's health system and often draws away resources from it.¹²⁹ Uganda's response to HIV has 'privileged' the disease in a way that HIV positive individuals are provided with more consistent, free health care than those with other diseases requiring long-term management. In fact, lessons learned from HIV/AIDS demonstrate the importance of strengthening primary health care (PHC) in the country.¹³⁰ This should be a priority alongside epidemic preparedness and response. Uganda has seen large amounts of foreign involvement and investment in its health system, particularly around epidemic response. This is evident in its HIV response, which is now predominantly driven by the U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief (PEPFAR).²⁵ Uganda was one of the first African countries to publicly acknowledge the urgency of HIV.¹³¹ What emerged was the importance of government willpower, combined with a well-financed and coordinated response. The response has exposed issues with a vertical approach, in what some have called "projectification."¹³¹ In the wake of financing, large AIDS service organisations and smaller NGOs became responsible for HIV prevention, care, and treatment.^{132, 133} Much of this work is financed through shortterm "projects" which are often designed with the funder priorities in mind. Several lessons emerge from Uganda's HIV response including: 1) a vertical approach^c to a public health problem should only be implemented in the short-term; 2) the role of the government as a coordinating body is crucial; 3) NGOs and other organisations can fill gaps as needed, but should not take on the burden of an epidemic response; 4) clear political messaging plays a vital role in the effectiveness of a public health response.

Case Study: Ebola (DRC Epidemic: 2018-2019)^{83, 134}

As the epidemic began to unfold in neighbouring DRC, Uganda began to prepare to prevent the spread of EVD across its borders. Uganda's National Task Force focused its effort into categorising districts into high-, mid-, and low-risk areas. High-risk areas primarily included border districts and international points of entry such as Entebbe International Airport in Wakiso District. At the local level, VHTs and IFRC volunteers were engaged to screen individuals, ensure hand washing and temperature checks, especially for travellers across points of entry (PoEs) at the border. VHTs were also engaged to conduct sensitisation and awareness raising activities in local villages and towns. Risk communication messaging was disseminated via radio, television, posters, and social media. However, the Uganda-DRC border is long and porous, and border community members still reported crossing regularly into DRC despite the ongoing risk of Ebola.⁸³ Individuals often had little choice but to cross into DRC, to fetch water (there was no reliable source of water in one border town), plant and tend to agricultural crops, fish, drive motorcycle taxis, trade at the markets, and conduct other forms of business. While border residents were acutely aware of the risks, they put their livelihood seeking first and

^c A vertical approach indicates a disease specific top-down approach, rather than a "horizontal" approach which would integrate into existing health systems.

regularly (sometimes daily) crossed into the DRC. Therefore, studies recommended the importance of 1) engaging local community leaders and organisations as partners in the Ebola response, and 2) providing tailored recommendations in light of livelihood barriers to health-seeking behaviour. Further, key recommendations emerge for the country's epidemic response. While Uganda has clear structures in place for managing epidemic response, in practice, the response to Ebola was often uncoordinated and overbureaucratic. Fieldwork conducted by the authors of this paper found that district offices were delivered supplies (e.g., hand-washing stations, temperature screening tents) but were not provided with manpower or funds to assemble or use those supplies. Efforts focused at official POEs often miss the many informal POEs along the border. Therefore, efforts should be made to more sustainably and equitably engage border communities as a whole to address any heightened threat they may face during an active outbreak.

Case Study: COVID-19

At the time of writing, Uganda faces relatively few COVID-19 cases (21,409 total cases as of 3rd Dec, may be due to lack of testing). However, as in other places, the COVID-19 pandemic has strained and exposed gaps in governance and health systems in Uganda. In Uganda, the recent surveillance structure built for Ebola became a pillar in COVID-19 response, with comprehensive testing and tracing.¹³⁵ Much of the health system was redirected toward COVID-19, leaving coverage for other diseases understaffed and underfunded.¹³⁰ As the pandemic began to unfold, the national government implemented strict lockdown measures in late March 2020.¹³⁶ The government banned public transport, non-food markets, closed its international borders, and instituted a night-time curfew among other measures.¹³⁷ The government also began to enforce these directives using military and police force, with several reports of beatings, shootings, and arbitrary detention across the country.¹³⁷ The militarisation of the response has exacerbated the underlying political tensions, especially with the upcoming election in February. How this will unfold will have implications for Uganda's society, economy, and health system for generations to come.

COMMUNICATION AND TRANSPORT

Uganda's infrastructure is patchwork outside of urban areas or major transportation routes. In recent years, communications infrastructure has developed through public-private partnerships with fixed fibre backbone infrastructure covering 50% of districts, 4G mobile networks across all major cities and national parks, and 3G mobile networks elsewhere.¹ Uganda has both road networks (20,544 km) and railways (1,244 km).¹ Mobile phones are widely available and have become a key source of information for rural and urban residents alike. WhatsApp and Facebook are the most popular social media

platforms, and WhatsApp is most frequently used to share news stories or other information.

Uganda's road networks are largely unpaved¹ and face safety hazards, particularly on roads and highways in the North. Roadways in rural areas are patchwork or non-existent. On average, 10 people die per day in Uganda in road traffic crashes, which is the highest in East Africa¹³⁸. Road deaths are costing the country approximately 5% of gross domestic product (GDP) annually.¹³⁸ Uganda also faces challenges in electricity access, with less than half (42.6%)¹³⁹ of the total population having access to electricity overall with large geographic (60% urban vs. 18% rural) and regional disparities.¹⁴⁰

GOVERNANCE AND KEY ACTORS

Uganda is a presidential republic. The President of Uganda, President Museveni, is both the head of state and head of government.¹⁴¹ While it is a multi-party system, the role of political parties was restricted from 1986-2005, where political parties could not campaign in elections. The current constitution was ratified in 1995 establishing executive, legislative, and judicial branches.¹⁴¹ Both the president and members of Parliament are elected every 5 years.¹⁴¹ The Ugandan judiciary is an independent branch of government. Uganda's 134 districts are each managed by a Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) appointed by the central government, with an accompanying District Health Officer (DHO), District Education Officer (DEO), and other key officers depending on the district.¹⁴²

Decentralisation

Uganda has one of the most extensive decentralised government structures, which includes a five-tiered local government structure and corresponding fiscal and political decentralisation and local government elections.^{142,143} The highest level (Local Council V) is the division level (just below the municipal or district level), while the lowest level (Local Council I) represents a zone of no more than 1000 people.¹⁴³ While this may have decentralized the central government to some degree,¹⁴⁴ the local councils also face a lack of funding, gerontocratic leadership, and lack of independence from the central government.¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁵¹ The number of districts has also increased from an initial 39 to 134 to increase local access to services provided at the district level, although this is also perceived as a political move to create the illusion of state service provision, which did not happen in reality.^{141,152,153}

Customary leadership

The role of a customary leader varies based on long standing social structures and historical political interactions with diverse forms of organisation. Customary leaders, or

'chiefs' were indigenous to some Bantu ethnic groups, and imposed by the British onto other groups, where localised systems of eldership based on the clan often prevailed.^{154,155} Chiefs continue to play a central role among some ethnic groups of Central (Baganda), Western (Banyoro, Batoro) and Eastern (Teso) Uganda. Despite the 'diminishing' role of the customary leaders in governance, the population finds it appropriate and are proud to identify with the customary leadership.¹⁵⁶ Adherence to these forms of authority is spatially specific, but often, chiefs or clan elders may be trusted and respected by the populations they serve and represent. As such, involvement is crucial to the uptake of any directive or measure designed and instituted in response to a health concern as it is with epidemics.¹⁵⁷

Civil society

Civil society continues to actively engage in 'problem solving' in different aspects of development in Uganda.^{25, 158} This has been through direct service provision, technical assistance, and funding to strengthen the health system which is in part due to the history of state divestment and neoliberal policy.^{159, 160} Organisations at national (e.g. The AIDS Support Organisation—TASO) and others at both community and international level have been key in addressing issues around epidemic response—strengthening families, transforming community knowledge, behaviour and attitudes towards health and health approaches in the country.^{25, 161, 162} They have also supported the establishment of community groups such as village health teams, para-social workers, village saving and loans (VSLA) and other community groups which have been commended for addressing challenges like stigma and discrimination.¹⁶³ During health emergencies, community groups can provide important linkages between the epidemic response and communities, as these are often trusted sources of information. See the list of key civil society actors at the end of this brief.

COMMUNITY EXPERIENCES AND RESPONSES

Village Health Teams

At the community level, epidemic response tasks are performed through the local Village Health Team, who are community health workers with sufficient cultural and geographical knowledge of the affected areas. Their mandate is to implement the activities spelt out by the district task force through the District Health Office. Working together with local administrative and political leaders, religious and cultural leaders, social services institutional leaders (schools, businesses), CSOs and the private sector, community health workers participate in a range of activities to respond to and control epidemics. For instance, these institutions participate in community-based surveillance and case detection, tracking and reporting, creating awareness, information and education to foster trust in the health system, and responding to any related health needs as they arise.

Community health workers and village health teams (VHTs) are consistently shown to be a trusted source of information in the community, especially when paired with consistent community engagement.^{164, 165} VHTs are often the most visible part of the health system, both in rural areas and impoverished urban settings, and are often a first point of contact when someone is ill.^{166, 167} Depending on the appearance of symptoms, traditional healers, spiritual healers, or herbalists may also be trusted as appropriate sources of care or linkages for referrals to the public health system.^{168–172}

Trust

Amidst the pluralistic health care seeking described above, instances of mistrust in the public health system exist. In areas where disease outbreaks have occurred, evidence indicates that certain sections of the population develop and retain high levels of mistrust in the public health system. For instance, in West Nile, among populations who live close to the DRC and South Sudan border, following the Ebola outbreak of 2018-2019, several community members held negative perceptions about the response efforts, often relating it to ongoing distrust in authority in other social and economic livelihood contexts. However, various actors were perceived differently, with high levels of reported trust in local councillors, NGOs, and village health teams.⁸³ Lower levels of trust were reported in government health workers. This was based on past negative interactions with government health workers, who were perceived as neglectful or indifferent. Moreover, in the context of Ebola, negative past experiences were compounded by the lack of effective treatment, the community seemed to build on such experiences to further embolden their distrust and misperceptions about the outbreak.⁸³

Fishing communities

Fishing communities also present a unique context for mistrust to foster.⁸³ Trust in authority figures is broadly low due to the historical and political-economic context, whereby the government was perceived to have ended private fishing.⁸³ The government had clamped down on fishing to mitigate overfishing in Uganda's lakes, but no viable alternative was provided to generate income.¹⁷³ Fishing had been restricted to the army and to those members of the public who could purchase costly fishing licenses.¹⁷⁴ Many individuals had gone into debt to afford those licenses, as their families have relied on fish and income from fishing for generations. In fishing communities, trust in authority is therefore quite low, particularly in terms of trust in the government and specifically the military. Therefore, recent efforts to deliver public health communications via the army in fishing communities are likely to face challenges.¹⁷⁵

Community-led strategies

A recent project has had success in building community capacity for outbreak response in Uganda, under the Intensified Preparedness Programme (IPP) for Ebola, which was set up in 2015.¹⁷⁶ IPP brought together community-based health 'shapers' who had been involved in previous Ebola outbreaks in not only Uganda, but other key affected countries. This included health professionals, community and local leaders, journalists, religious leaders, and traditional healers. These groups were identified as key influencers of the narrative of infectious disease prevention, risk communication, and community outreach. IPP held a series of training workshops to capture insights on assumptions, perceptions, and beliefs of infection control management and outline ways to 'shift the narrative' to a more people-centred health paradigm. Participants co-designed a broader approach to epidemic preparedness and response – one that includes socioeconomic and political dimensions, community ownership, and long-term resilience and capacity building. They called for shifting power to communities and promoting a One Health approach.

ONGOING CHALLENGES AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Despite a rich history of managing epidemics, the frequency of epidemics in Uganda erodes efforts to invest in the broader health system and achieve universal health coverage.¹²⁷ The current model of public health practice in Uganda is predominantly medical and focuses heavily on surveillance and case management rather than a comprehensive model that could include community engagement, or epidemic preparedness and recovery. As we have seen with COVID-19, additional sectors are needed in epidemic planning to address the social, environmental, and economic determinants of disease. Additional investments of funds, equipment and knowledge, are needed into village-level health workers to provide them with additional capacity, protective equipment, and other necessities.¹²⁷ Additional short- and long-term recommendations are presented below.

KEY IMPLICATIONS FOR OUTBREAK AND EPIDEMIC RESPONSE

Uganda faces a high burden of communicable disease alongside a growing burden of non-communicable disease. Its climate and geographic location mean the country is likely to experience additional infectious and zoonotic disease outbreaks, many of which are related to close human-animal interactions and a changing climate. While its surveillance and response systems are strong, there are key gaps highlighted in this brief, particularly in implementation and in rural parts of the country. Key implications for epidemic preparedness and response are presented below, drawn from the material in this brief

The public health system is largely donor and household funded. Its presence is patchwork outside of urban centres. As a result, rural government health facilities are often under-staffed, understocked and far away.

- Improve mobile services for rural residents with community outreach component.
- Advocate for the Ugandan government to improve financing of its health system as a percentage of GDP.
- Train local trusted actors with a long-term community presence (e.g. village health teams, community organisations, traditional healers) to link into early warning mechanisms and disease surveillance.

The private health sector is largely unregulated and uncoordinated, yet it represents roughly half of all health services in Uganda. There is an opportunity to improve linkages across the health system for improved disease surveillance and longer-term epidemic preparedness.

- In the short term, outbreak response teams can engage a wide array of private health sector actors: 'drug shop' owners and staff, private health facility doctors and nurses, and traditional healers. They can be provided with training and mechanisms to link into an outbreak response system.
- Uganda has a large number of NGOs, civil society organisations, and communitybased organisations that can be better engaged in the response. These organisations are often more trusted and due to their longer-term presence in the communities, they are well-placed to advise on and deliver epidemic response activities.
- Private Not-For-Profit (PFNP) health care providers and related umbrella organisations are also not sufficiently involved in outbreak response. Particularly in rural areas, PFNP play a key role in health care provision. Training PFNP health workers to identify and respond to outbreaks can serve as an additional layer in surveillance

Traditional healers, spiritual healers, and herbalists are key actors who provide complementary and alternative medicine services in Uganda. Healers often practice more than one of these and specific beliefs and practices vary by cultural group.

There is a need for a systematic assessment of each culture's health beliefs, local etymologies, and understandings of disease is necessary.

- Traditional healers should not be stigmatised or treated as 'less than' health providers. Respecting differences in belief and medical practice can help establish collaborative relationships for better epidemic control.
- As done previously, training traditional healers to identify signs of key infectious disease can play a pivotal role in referring patients to health facilities.
- However, traditional healers are not always the most trusted source of care. In Uganda, many prefer to see biomedical providers in cases of suspected infectious disease. Traditional healers might be seen for chronic illness or mental health issues.

Academic institutions play a key role in providing technical expertise to the Ministry of Health, District Health Offices, and other non-governmental actors. Local social scientists can leverage existing research and in-country experience to provide rapid insights for outbreak response.

It is important to liaise with relevant local social scientists to provide insights on context, history, and political economy of the area where the outbreak is situated.

Community trust in epidemic response is a vital aspect of how and when communities take up public health guidance. Trust is shaped by local context, especially political economy and history. Developing trust in response actors and public health systems will be key aspects of success.

- To improve trust, there should be transparency and honesty in terms of what needs to be achieved. Public health guidance and health services should be adapted to different populations, in terms of their cultural preferences and livelihood constraints.
- Engaging with trusted interlocutors will be one way to improve community buy-in to response activities. This may include NGOs, other community-based organisations, religious leaders, or local leaders, depending on context.

Community engagement is key, not only in principle, but through meaningful dialogue, action, and co-design of local outbreak response.

- Change perceptions of communities by assessing and highlighting strengths, assets, and capacities for epidemic response. This might include existing communication systems, mutual aid societies, and other capacities that relate to community resilience.
- Community engagement approaches are often limited in practice. More inclusive collaboration and participatory actions would mitigate differences and build a shared understanding of what needs to be accomplished during a health emergency.

Epidemic preparedness strategies should also consider a holistic approach, such as also building community capacities in high-risk areas, so that communities are empowered to be the first responders during a crisis.

The identification of vulnerable populations depends on context, and should occur at the local level. However, there are key considerations for vulnerable populations, including:

- Vulnerabilities of urban poor, border populations, refugees and displaced people, the Karamojong, youth, and women and girls, should be considered. Epidemic response actors should include specific ways to mitigate vulnerabilities during an outbreak. For example, consider the ways that caregiving can put women at heightened risk of disease.
- When preparing response plans, consider the vulnerabilities of particular populations such as the urban poor. Closing down public transportation may make sense from a public health standpoint, but it devastates local informal economies where motorcycle taxi (*boda boda*) drivers are key participants.
- Border communities are sites of epidemic transmission, but should not be the target of blame or shame-based public health campaigns. Rather, border communities should be regularly engaged in epidemic preparedness and their role must be strengthened.

There is a lot to be learned from Uganda's handling of past epidemics, particularly HIV/AIDS and Ebola. Specifically:

- Vertical approaches to epidemic response may be needed in the short-term, but this draws much needed funds and resources away from an already struggling health system. Medium- and longer-term responses should be better integrated into the health system.
- While Uganda has clear structures in place for managing epidemic response, in practice, the response to Ebola was often uncoordinated and over-bureaucratic. Additional communication and coordination are needed, particularly between the central coordinating body and district offices.
- Given the history of conflict and marginalisation by many groups in Uganda, the military should not be engaged in epidemic response, and certainly not as a public face of the response.
- Risk communication and other epidemic preparedness and response activities should consider the context of vulnerability in Uganda. Blanket messaging and approaches will not work, especially for vulnerable populations that face barriers to engaging in health-promoting behaviour.

KEY ACTORS

This section presents a list of key actors identified in the process of researching for this brief with whom early responders may want to engage with.

SOCIAL SCIENCE INSTITUTIONS

Makerere University School of Social Sciences (https://ss.mak.ac.ug/) – a key in-country social science research school with a long history of research on health and development in Uganda. Partnership could include qualitative and mixed-methods assessments of perspectives on epidemic response and uptake of related behaviours and services. Its website contains many useful references and working papers. (https://ss.mak.ac.ug/publications)

Makerere Institute of Social Research (MISR) (<u>https://misr.mak.ac.ug/</u>) – a research institute at Makerere University, headed by Dr. Mahmood Mamdani, a Ugandan academic with decades of experience in political and social science. MISR could be helpful in identifying early-career researchers or doctoral students for epidemic-related investigations.

Gulu University School of Medicine (<u>https://gu.ac.ug/</u>) – the School of Medicine has programs on medical anthropology and other social science fields. Based in northern Uganda, Gulu University faculty and students are well-placed to be engaged in any epidemic-related research or investigations in the region.

National Researchers:

- Dr. David Kaawa-Mafigiri, anthropologist/public health
- Dr. Charles Rwabukwali, anthropologist
- Dr. Grace Akello, anthropologist/public health
- Dr. Florence Ebila, women and gender studies

ORGANISATIONS INVOLVED IN EPIDEMIC RESPONSE IN UGANDA

International organisations

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) – the CDC has conducted more than 35 outbreak responses coordinated by the PHEOC. They conduct a Field Epidemiology Training Program which investigates outbreaks, conducts emergency assessments, and public health surveillance. They also work with local labs on strengthening systems. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/globalhealth/countries/uganda/default.htm</u> International Committee of the Red Cross (ICRC)- The Red Cross has a strong presence in health in Uganda. The IRC works longer-term with refugees in Uganda. During outbreaks and epidemics, the Red Cross works with authorities in places of detention (e.g. prisons) and border crossings. They work to strengthen standard practices such as medical screening of new arrivals and distribute hygiene materials. They also provide technical support for Uganda's preparedness and response plans. <u>https://www.icrc.org/en/where-we-work/africa/uganda</u>

International Rescue Committee (IRC) works primarily with refugees but is also a key partner of the National Task Force. They focus in the Acholi and Karamoja sub-regions and work with communities recovering from conflict as well as refugee populations. During outbreaks, they provide medical equipment and train health care workers. <u>https://www.rescue.org/country/uganda#how-does-the-irc-help-in-uganda</u>

IntraHealth works to strengthen the country's health workforce with training and other activities. They work with others to develop and implement district- and national-level strategies for health system strengthening. They are a key partner of the National Task Force. <u>https://www.intrahealth.org/countries/uganda</u>

MSF (Médicins Sans Frontieres/Doctors without Borders) – supports the National Task Force to improve Ebola response preparedness. Their teams set up Ebola Treatment Units in the districts bordering DRC in the 2018-2019 epidemic. MSF has long played key roles in responding to health crises and through their work with refugees, especially the large influx of South Sudanese refugees in the country. <u>https://www.msf.org/uganda</u>

Ugandan NGOs

East African Public Health Laboratory Network Project (EAPHLNP) – works to control the spread of infectious disease through improved diagnostics and surveillance capabilities. <u>https://eaphln-ecsahc.org/</u>

Infectious Diseases Institute (IDI) – Makerere University/Mulago Hospital – IDI conducts research and capacity development to strengthen health systems in the region. Their work on global health security is to develop capabilities to prevent, detect, and respond to infectious disease outbreaks. <u>https://idi.mak.ac.ug/</u>

Public Health Emergency Operation Centre (PHEOC) under the Ministry of Health is responsible for coordinating information and resources (human and physical), organising, conducting, and managing all aspects of public health emergency response efforts in the country.

Ugandan Virus Research Institute (UVRI) is central to any outbreak investigation. They conduct research, surveillance, and diagnostics. <u>https://www.uvri.go.ug/</u>

United Nations agencies

International Organization on Migration (IOM) is a key partner in cross-border movement and border crossings during an epidemic like Ebola. They conduct operations related to emergency response, primarily focused on refugees and asylum seekers. <u>https://uganda.iom.int/</u>

UNFPA (United Nations Population Fund) - has supported the COVID-19 response and especially the effects on women and girls. They also work with refugee populations in the country. <u>https://uganda.unfpa.org/en/</u>

UNICEF (United Nations Children's Fund) - has supported the government in developing communication strategies and community mobilisation efforts for epidemic response. It could help leverage efforts to reach difficult-to-reach populations in the case of future epidemics. <u>https://www.unicef.org/uganda/</u>

WHO (World Health Organization) - has a country office in Kampala. The agency is an important partner of the Ugandan Ministry of Health in responding to epidemics caused by infectious diseases and building healthcare capacity. https://www.afro.who.int/countries/uganda

OTHER ORGANISATIONS ADDRESSING HEALTH ISSUES IN UGANDA

International organisations

CRS (Catholic Relief Services) - <u>https://www.crs.org/our-work-overseas/where-we-</u> work/uganda

Makerere University-Walter Reed Project - https://www.muwrp.org/

Oxfam - https://uganda.oxfam.org/

Pathfinder International - https://www.pathfinder.org/countries/uganda/

Population Services International - <u>https://www.psi.org/country/uganda/</u>

Save the Children International - <u>https://uganda.savethechildren.net/</u>

WaterAid - https://www.wateraid.org/where-we-work/uganda

Ugandan NGOs

Inter-Religious Council of Uganda (IRCU) - http://www.ircu.or.ug/

Community Health Alliance Uganda (CHAU) - <u>https://www.chau.co.ug/</u>

National Slum Dwellers Federation of Uganda (NSDFU) - <u>http://www.upfi.info/partners/implementing/national-slum-dwellers-federation-uganda-nsdfu/</u>

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to thank Professor Eddy J. Walakira (Makerere University), Mr. Ismael Ddumba-Nyanzi (Palladium/Data for Impact Project), and Dr. Grace Akello (Gulu University).

This briefing was reviewed by: Elizabeth Storer, Melissa Leach, and Hayley MacGregor.

Suggested citation: Kaawa-Mafigiri, D., Kato, F., & Schmidt-Sane, M (2020) Tackling Deadly Diseases in Africa: Key Considerations for Epidemic Response and Preparedness in Uganda, *Briefing*.

Published December 2020



This is an Open Access paper distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International licence (CC BY), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original authors and source are credited and any modifications or adaptations are indicated. http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/legalcode

ANNEXE: ADDITIONAL HISTORY AND CONTEXT

This annexe provides additional contextual information on aspects presented in the brief, as well as additional issues which responders may want to know about.

COUNTRY CONTEXT

Uganda's GDP is US\$89.19 billion, placing it 89th in the world1 with a Human Development Index (HDI) value of 0.528 putting it in the low human development category.¹⁷⁷ In 2019, Uganda's GDP growth was 5.6% but it has experienced a considerable slowdown in growth due to COVID-19, a locust invasion in the East, and major flooding in the West.¹⁷⁸ Any analysis of Uganda must include regional variation and a discussion of regional disparities. While the aggregate GDP growth is positive, this masks significant inequalities within Uganda, especially along a North-South geographic divide (Figure 1, comparing Central & Kampala regions vs. North, West Nile, Karamoja).^{179, 180}

Uganda's economy is dominated by agriculture, while over 50% of GDP is attributed to the informal sector, which employs over 80% of the labour force.^{70, 181} Uganda has vast natural resources, including oil, metals (copper, gold), and other minerals.^{178, 182} Agriculture is a driving force of the economy and the sector employs 72% of the workforce.¹⁷⁸ Major agricultural exports include coffee, cotton, tea, horticultural products, and food crops (maize, millet, beans, etc.). Fishing also makes up a large part of the economy, with fish and fish products exported. Manufacturing contributes a relatively small portion of GDP (25.5%).¹⁷⁸

North-South Divide

Uganda is in fact a country of two halves, as reflected in development priorities. Until recently the South has been a "donor darling," whilst the North has been characterised as "post-conflict."¹⁸³ The Southern economy is dependent on agricultural exports, tourism, remittances, and foreign direct investment, all of which have reduced in 2020 due to the pandemic.¹⁷⁸ The promise of oil exploration and production is yet to be fully realized. There is also increasing uncertainty around upcoming January 2021 elections which adds to this precarity and may result in further disruption in economic activities. Uganda's population of over 43 million is one of the youngest (48% less than 15 years old; median age: 15.7 years) and fastest growing populations (total fertility rate = 5.8 children per woman) in the world.¹

POLITICAL ECONOMY AND COLONIALISM

Colonial History

Uganda is a former British colony that achieved independence in 1962. Despite decades of reported economic growth at the national level, the country has high levels of inequality and joblessness.^{71, 186, 187} The underpinnings of these phenomena are rooted in the history of British indirect rule that privileged the Ganda over others and stratified

Kampala into an African and a European area. This paired with neoliberal economic policies post-Independence have exacerbated inequality. The British both spatially and ethnically stratified Uganda.¹⁸⁸⁻¹⁹⁰

British colonialism in Uganda is marked by key features and events (Box I). The Uganda Agreement of 1900 governed the system of colonial rule.¹⁸⁹ The Agreement instituted a three-tiered structure of administration, divided into county, sub-county, and parish levels managed by Buganda officials.^{188, 191} The British began a privileging of Ganda within the protectorate, who were chosen to implement this administration in what has been termed a "Gandacentric" view of other tribes in Uganda.^{188, 192–194} By the 1920s, senior Ganda chiefs emerged as a highly privileged class that built networks of influence,

Box I. British colonialism in Uganda

- British colonialism set the stage for inequalities we see today, primarily between the North and the South;
- Indirect rule through a protectorate, and through the Ganda ethnic group
- Few white settlers, in contrast with neighbouring Kenya;
- It was an extractive colonial state with high taxation and low government spending;
- Independence achieved mainly through labour organising and strikes, which peaked in 1945;
- Independence was obtained in 1962 and Ganda tribe's King Frederick Mutesa II became the first President and Milton Obote as Prime Minister with executive powers.

control, and patronage – a manner of ruling which persists to this day.^{195–197} Prior to colonial rule, the Baganda tribe ruled over other tribes,^d particularly in present-day western Uganda.¹⁹⁸ However, colonial rule set up Ganda leaders as exceptionally privileged, managing an even larger swathe of the country.^{155, 191} Another significant aspect of the Agreement was the land settlement system, which created a system of individual land rights as opposed to the historical system of communal land managed by the tribe.^{71, 188} Workers on *mailo* (individual land) were new tenants of the newly created landowning Ganda class, which shaped access to wealth and economic stability, and exacerbated wealth inequalities in the city.^{71, 199, 200}

^d Note: a concept of "tribe" as discussed here is not indigenous for all ethnic groups in Uganda, but is rather a construct that emerged during the British colonial era, when terms like "tribe" and "chief" were used.

North-South Divide

In fact, it was these colonial policies that set the stage for contemporary inequalities along a regional North-South divide.^{201, 202} During the colonial era, the North experienced frequent border changes. Local populations may have been under the control of Belgian Congo, Anglo-Egyptian Sudan, and the Ugandan Protectorate.²⁰³ The Northwest region was chronically underdeveloped. The North served primarily as a "labour reserve" for migrant work to the South and later, as a source of army recruitment.^{201, 204} In the present day, the region has continued to be marginalised from the economically and politically stronger Southern region.²⁰⁴

During the immediate post-colonial period, there was a renegotiation of power in the country, despite this Gandacentric colonial period and during much of pre-colonial Uganda.^{198, 205, 206} The postcolonial period did not radically restructure the inequalities created during colonisation.^{207,208} Uganda would face steady conflict and internal struggle until the 2000s.²⁰⁹⁻²¹³ Uganda's ethnic groups are each powerful in their own right, which does not lend well to a balance of power at a national level.²¹⁴ The Bush War (1980-1986) waged between the National Resistance Movement (NRM) and President Obote's second regime set up the current political structure in Uganda.²¹⁵⁻²¹⁷ Museveni led the insurgency against President Obote, who was widely perceived by many of the Ugandan populace as having gained power via fraudulent elections and extensive political repression and violence.^{215, 217} Southern Uganda has experienced a relatively long period of peace since that war. However, inequalities are multidimensional, shaped by intersections of ethnicity, class, politics, and economic ambitions.¹⁹⁸ The remainder of this section focuses on these forms of inequality which shape access to power and resources in the country today and can explain the approaches to epidemic response.

Inequalities

Policies instituted in the 1980s in Uganda have important legacies for today's economy, which many individuals are unable to fully participate in. Beginning in the 1980s, Uganda adopted neoliberal reforms to liberalize its economy.⁷⁰ Free market neoliberal policies were instituted to promote economic growth, stabilize out-of-control inflation, and maintain a sustainable balance of payments.²¹⁸⁻²²¹ While the economy subsequently improved, this growth has been concentrated in the upper echelons of society; the Gini coefficient increased from 0.39 in 1996 to 0.43 in 2016.²²² This economic liberalization has not translated into adequate formal job creation in the country, evidenced in part by the high rate of participation in the informal economy.^{70,218,223} While Uganda's economy looks moderately strong at first glance (high economic growth, moderate inflation), again there have been regional disparities whereby neoliberal policies supported growth in the

South. On the other hand, the North was often involved in conflict and was cut off from economic growth because of this.²²⁴

Neoliberal policies in the public health system

In 1993, the Ugandan government began to differentiate between preventive aspects of health to be financed by the government and curative services, to be financed by individuals via the introduction of user fees.^{17, 225, 226} In 1996, the government began integrating the private sector within the health system, which included subsidies for the private not-for-profit sector to provide services, including primary health care (PHC).¹⁷ By 2001, it was clear that user fees restricted health care access, especially for the poor.²²⁵⁻²²⁷ User fees were highly unpopular and were abolished during the 2001 presidential election.¹⁷ Odaga (2004) highlights that despite this abolishment of fees, Uganda's health care system is still skewed, with the poor continuing to experience a greater cost of illhealth.²²⁸ While all user fees were abolished at HCs, patients often have to pay for laboratory tests, ambulance rides, and other associated costs. Due to medication stockouts, patients are often left to purchase medication from private pharmacies.²²⁷ This has facilitated a dual system of having free public health care provision in name, while allowing de facto privatization within public health facilities.^{229, 230} Furthermore, access to these additional services and medicines within public facilities has become inaccessible for the rural and urban poor given the high fees it attracts.⁴⁸

Urbanisation

A key challenge in Uganda is managing rapid urbanisation, where urban inequality and rising numbers in informal settlements present twin challenges to urban management and health.⁷⁰⁻⁷³ Historically, urban migration was circular with short periods of time spent in the city to engage in wage labour, with the ultimate goal of returning home to establish a household.^{231, 232} A lack of opportunities in the rural areas, the reduction of communal land, and rural impoverishment led many to permanently move to the city.^{70, 231, 233} Meanwhile, there has not been as strong a formal approach as needed to urban development.74-76 In response to unevenly implemented policies, ad hoc spaces ballooned to house the many urban migrants.⁷⁷ Ugandan informal settlements are marked by lack of land tenure, poor housing conditions, and inadequate access to basic services and amenities, engendering high levels of vulnerability.⁷⁸ Further, the informal settlement is a site of social inequality and social control, which has influenced how it has become a centre of political dissent. Crack-downs on the informal sector began early in 1974 with the government rounding up informal traders in a well-publicized example of a growing totalitarian regime.²³² These crack-downs have continued in the Museveni era, leading to increasing marginalization of informal settlement residents.^{70, 234}

Uganda is undergoing demographic change driven by rapidly increasing numbers of youth in the country.^{104–106} It is also experiencing political upheaval facilitated by economic policies and exclusionary development, which maps onto a youthful population. Many rural Ugandan local societies are premised on gerontocracy.¹⁰⁵ From the 1920s through the 1940s, both Baganda and British officials saw youth and generational transition as disruptive to public order.¹⁰⁵ Youth politics played a critical role in the interwar period, and in the years following World War II. In recent years there has been a resurgence of youth politics, evident primarily in urban and peri-urban informal settlements. Such struggles have been united since 2017, under the leadership of the popular opposition leader determined to unseat President Museveni.^{64, 107} Robert Kyagulanyi grew up in one of Kampala's informal settlements, Kamwokya. He taps into youth frustrations with socio-economic inequality.^{64, 108–110} Uganda has seen other opposition leaders since President Museveni's ascension, but none have resonated with such a large swathe of society.²³⁵ Political tensions are likely to increase in the run up to the 2021 elections.¹⁰⁸

SOCIAL GROUPS, STRUCTURES, AND RELATIONS

Cultural and linguistic groups

Uganda can be divided into broad linguistic groups: Bantu-speaking and non-Bantu speaking (e.g. Nilotic, Central Sudanic people). Bantu speakers include the Buganda^e kingdom, Bunyoro, Toro, Nkore, Kiga, and Busoga states in the Central and West, with non-Bantu speakers in the North and East.^{198, 236} The Baganda are the largest tribe (16.7% of the population), with Basoga (8%) and Bagisu (5%) following.^{237, 238} Nilotic speakers migrated South into the region, and are primarily cattle herders with additional agricultural activities. The Teso (8.1%) territory stretches across much of Eastern Uganda, while the Karamajong are in the Northeast.¹⁸²

Box II. Regional highlights

- Northern Region. Home to Nilotic and Central Sudanic tribes engaged in agriculture. The Acholi region faced years of war and internal displacement during the Lord's Resistance Army insurgence.
- Central Region. Historical lands of the Baganda tribe, a Bantu ethnic group, which was at the centre of British indirect rule during the colonial era.
- Western Region. Home to Bantu tribes with shared ethnic and cultural roots with parts of DRC and Rwanda. Currently in power with President Yoweri Museveni (a westerner). Host communities for refugees from neighbouring countries.
- Eastern Region. Home to Nilotic tribes such as the Teso which migrated more recently (mid-19th century). The area is divided into Northern and Southern Teso territories.

^e *Linguistic note*: among the Bantu linguistic-ethnic groups, a Bu- prefix refers to the kingdom (Busoga or Buganda/Ganda), a Ba-prefix refers to the people (Basoga or Baganda), and a Mu- prefix is one person (Musoga or Muganda).

Ethnic tension

President Museveni is Bahororo, which has established the political prominence of western tribes since his ascension in 1986.²³⁹ For nearly 18 years, the North (especially populations living in Acholiland) suffered from war and related atrocities perpetrated by Joseph Kony's Lord's Resistance Army (LRA) insurgent army, including large numbers of child abductions to forcibly serve as child soldiers or bush wives, and torture and killing of the civilian population.²³⁹ President Museveni and Ugandan army forces likely precipitated the war.^{202, 240} The war served a political purpose of sowing chaos in the North and dis-allowing any kind of political opposition to flourish there.^{94, 239, 241} The Baganda have also experienced tensions with the central government in recent years, such as restrictions placed on the Buganda King's movement or clashes over land control.^{242–244} Baganda dissatisfaction is partly behind present-day political tensions, as the newly formed opposition party (National Unity Party) is represented by key Ganda leaders and some have perceived this as a potential revival of Ganda nationalism.^{64, 245, 246}

Social organisation

Social organisation is dominated by kinship groups, extended kin, and other forms of organisation based on tribal customs (e.g. clans). Children are typically cared for by extended kin, and are often sent to live for extended periods in other households, either for the purposes of schooling or to solidify kinship bonds.²⁴⁷

REFERENCES

- 1. Africa :: Uganda The World Factbook Central Intelligence Agency. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/ug.html
- 2. World Health Organization. (2018). GHO | Key Country Indicators. World Health Organization.
- 3. HEALTH SITUATION. (2018). Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.cco
- 4. World Health Organization. (2018). Uganda: country profiles. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/gho/countries/uga/country_profiles/en/
- 5. The HIV and AIDS Uganda Country Progress Report 2014. (n.d.). Retrieved March 14, 2016, from http://www.unaids.org/sites/default/files/country/documents/UGA_narrative_report_2015.pdf
- 6. Ministry of Health. (2019). Uganda Population-Based HIV Impact Assessment (UPHIA 2016-2017). Kampala, Uganda.
- 7. Doyle, D. S. (2015). Missionary Medicine and Primary Health Care in Uganda: Implications for Universal Health Care in Africa. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK316272/
- 8. Nsereko, J. R., Kizza, D., Kigozi, F., Ssebunnya, J., Ndyanabangi, S., Flisher, A. J., & Cooper, S. (2011). Stakeholder's perceptions of help-seeking behaviour among people with mental health problems in Uganda. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, *5*(1), 1–9.
- 9. Moshabela, M., Bukenya, D., Darong, G., Wamoyi, J., McLean, E., Skovdal, M., & Hosegood, V. (2017). Traditional healers, faith healers and medical practitioners: the contribution of medical pluralism to bottlenecks along the cascade of care for HIV/AIDS in Eastern and Southern Africa. *Sexually Transmitted Infections*, 93.
- 10. Orr, D. M., & Bindi, S. (2017). Medical pluralism and global mental health. In *Palgrave handbook of sociocultural perspectives on global mental health* (pp. 307–328). London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- 11. Smith, C. E., Kajumba, M., Bobholz, S., Smith, P. J., Kaddumukasa, M., Kakooza-Mwesige, A., & Nakasujja, N. (2020). Pluralistic and singular causal attributions for epilepsy in Uganda. *Epilepsy & Behavior*.
- 12. Kigozi, F., Ssebunnya, J., Kizza, D., Cooper, S., & Ndyanabangi, S. (2010). An overview of Uganda's mental health care system: Results from an assessment using the world health organization's assessment instrument for mental health systems (WHO-AIMS). *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, *4*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-4458-4-1
- 13. District health planning at a time of transition: a critical review and lessons learnt from the implementation of regional planning in Uganda. (2016). *International Health*, 8(3), 162–169. https://doi.org/10.1093/inthealth/ihw012
- 14. Galabuzi, C., Agea, J. G., Fungo, B. L., & Kamoga, R. M. N. (2010). Traditional medicine as an alternative form of health care system: A preliminary case study of nangabo Sub-county, central Uganda. *African Journal of Traditional, Complementary and Alternative Medicines*, 7(1), 11–16. https://doi.org/10.4314/ajtcam.v7i1.57224
- 15. Lang, E., & Fagan, T. (2019). Achieving Sustainable Health Financing in Uganda: Prospects and Advocacy Opportunities for Domestic Resource Mobilization.
- 16. A JOINT INITIATIVE BETWEEN PRIVATE SECTOR CONTRIBUTIONS TO MATERNAL AND REPRODUCT HEALTH EXCERPT FROM THE 2016 UGANDA PRIVATE SECTOR HEALTH ASSESSMENT. (2016).
- 17. PRIMARY HEALTH CARE SYSTEMS (PRIMASYS). (2017). Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/bookorders.
- 18. Uganda Ministry of Health. (2013). Annual Health Sector Performance Report. Retrieved from https://health.go.ug/docs/AHSPR_2013.pdf
- 19. Atusingwize, E., Ndejjo, R., Tumukunde, G., Buregyeya, E., Nsamba, P., Tuhebwe, D., & Bazeyo, W. (2020). Application of One Health Approach in Training at Makerere University: Experiences From the One Health Workforce Project in Uganda.
- 20. Osseni, I. A. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic in sub-Saharan Africa: preparedness, response, and hidden potentials. *Tropical Medicine and Health.*
- 21. Nakanjako, D., Zalwango, F., Wairagala, P., Luboga, F., Biraro, I. A., Bukirwa, V. D., & Elliott, A. (2020). Career development for infection and immunity research in Uganda: a decade of experience from the Makerere University–Uganda Virus Research Institute research and training programme. *AAS Open Research*, *3*.
- 22. Musoke, D., Gibson, L., Mukama, T., Khalil, Y., & Ssempebwa, J. C. (2016). Nottingham Trent University and Makerere University School of Public Health partnership: experiences of co-learning and supporting the healthcare system in Uganda. *Globalization and Health*, 12(1), 11.
- 23. Kamulegeya, L. H., Bwanika, J. M., Musinguzi, D., & Bakibinga, P. (2020). Continuity of health service delivery during the COVID-19 pandemic: the role of digital health technologies in Uganda. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, *35*(43).
- 24. Kajungu, D., Natukwatsa, D., Ndyomugyenyi, D., Gyezaho, C., Muhoozi, M., Muwanguzi, D., ... & Ampeire, I. (2020). Catch-up Vaccination Drives May Mitigate the Effects of COVID-19 Response Measures on Routine Immunisation Services in Rural Uganda–Use of Real-World Data.
- 25. US State Department. (2019). PEPFAR Uganda Country Operational Plan (COP) 2019 Strategic Direction Summary.
- 26. Aceng, J. R., Ario, A. R., Muruta, A. N., Makumbi, I., Nanyunja, M., Komakech, I., ... Woldemariam, Y. T. (2020). Uganda's experience in Ebola virus disease outbreak preparedness, 2018-2019. *Globalization and Health*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-020-00548-5
- 27. Kaye, D. K., Mwanika, A., Sekimpi, P., Tugumisirize, J., & Sewankambo, N. (2010). Perceptions of newly admitted

undergraduate medical students on experiential training on community placements and working in rural areas of Uganda. *BMC Medical Education*, 10(1), 47.

- 28. Osewe, P., & Mensah, J. (2017). What can we learn from Uganda on fighting deadly disease outbreaks? *World Bank Blogs.* Retrieved November 30, 2020, from https://blogs.worldbank.org/health/what-can-we-learn-ugandafighting-deadly-disease-outbreaks
- 29. UGANDA PHARMACEUTICAL SECTOR BASELINE SURVEY. (2002).
- 30. Ssennyonjo, A., Namakula, J., Kasyaba, R., Orach, S., Bennett, S., & Ssengooba, F. (2018). Government resource contributions to the private-not-for-profit sector in Uganda: Evolution, adaptations and implications for universal health coverage. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 17(1), 130. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-018-0843-8
- 31. Konde-Lule, J., Okuonzi, S., Matsiko, C., Mukanga, D., Onama, V., & Gitta, S. N. (2006). The potential of the private sector to improve health outcomes in Uganda. Kampala.
- 32. USAID Uganda. (2015). Uganda's private health sector: Opportunities for growth. Kampala.
- 33. Doucleff, M. (2013). Spiritual Healers Keep Watch For Plague In Uganda. *National Public Radio*. Retrieved November 30, 2020, from https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2013/11/18/245958192/spiritual-healers-keep-watch-for-plague-in-uganda
- 34. Kyomugisha, H. O. (2011). Traditional Medicine: Oversight of Practitioners and Practices in Uganda. SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.1322093
- 35. Sundararajan, R., Mwanga-Amumpaire, J., King, R., & Ware, N. C. (2020). Conceptual model for pluralistic healthcare behaviour: Results from a qualitative study in southwestern Uganda. *BMJ Open*, *10*(4), 33410. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2019-033410
- 36. Bowmer, A. (2020). Social Science in Humanitarian Action. SSHAP. Retrieved from www.socialscienceinaction.org
- 37. Musoke, D., Boynton, P., Butler, C., & Musoke, M. B. (2014). Health seeking behaviour and challenges in utilising health facilities in Wakiso district, Uganda. *African Health Sciences*, *14*(4), 1046–1055. https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v14i4.36
- 38. Hampanda, K., Ybarra, M., care, S. B.-A., & 2014, undefined. (n.d.). Perceptions of health care services and HIVrelated health-seeking behavior among Uganda adolescents. *Taylor & Francis*. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/09540121.2014.894612
- 39. Kapiriri, L., informatics, S. B.-I. journal of medical, & 2006, undefined. (n.d.). Health practitioners' and health planners' information needs and seeking behavior for decision making in Uganda. *Elsevier*. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1386505605002121?casa_token=jUZnsBkRgukAAAAA:1ikkwD HUgK95NP6EST0DM2pvu7j1xQAQnnPC3ON0xyMImmPW-00jvXld6QJWv9gSZ5xL9q-AXCY
- 40. Okello, E. S., & Ekblad, S. (2006). Lay Concepts of Depression among the Baganda of Uganda: A Pilot Study. *Transcultural Psychiatry*, 43(2), 287–313. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363461506064871
- 41. Tumwesigire, S., sciences, S. W.-A. health, & 2002, undefined. (n.d.). Health seeking behavior by families of children suspected to have malaria in Kabale, Uganda. *ajol.info.* Retrieved from https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ahs/article/view/6785
- 42. Amuge, B., Wabwire-Mangen, F., Puta, C., ... G. P.-A. health, & 2004, undefined. (n.d.). Health-seeking behavior for malaria among child and adult headed households in Rakai district, Uganda. *ajol.info*. Retrieved from https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ahs/article/view/6872
- 43. Determinants of Health Seeking Behaviour in Uganda Is It Just Income and User Fees That Are Important? (n.d.). Retrieved November 30, 2020, from https://ideas.repec.org/p/ags/idpmde/30553.html
- 44. Konde-Lule, J., Gitta, S. N., Lindfors, A., Okuonzi, S., Onama, V. O., & Forsberg, B. C. (2010). Private and public health care in rural areas of Uganda. *BMC International Health and Human Rights*, 10(1), 29. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-698X-10-29
- 45. Mbonye, A. K., Neema, S., & Magnussen, P. (2006). Treatment-seeking practices for malaria in pregnancy among rural women in Mukono District, Uganda. *Journal of Biosocial Science*, *38*(2), 221–237. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021932005007108
- 46. Atim, P., Ochola, E., Ssendagire, S., & Rutebemberwa, E. (2016). Health Seeking Behaviours among Caretakers of Children with Nodding Syndrome in Pader District Northern Uganda: A Mixed Methods Study. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(7), e0159549. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159549
- 47. Bandese, N., Wang, Y., Xu, B., Yang, Y., Du, J., Yu, L., ... Liu, B. (2018). actors influencing late presentation for health care among men with cancer esophagus attending Hospice Africa Uganda (HAU). *ESMO 20th World Congress on Gastrointestinal Cancer 20–23 June 2018, Barcelona, Spain, 29*, v1. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdy151
- 48. Kwesiga, B., Ataguba, J. E., Abewe, C., Kizza, P., & Zikusooka, C. M. (2015). Who pays for and who benefits from health care services in Uganda? *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*(1), 44.
- 49. Visconti, R. M., Larocca, A., & Marconi, M. (2020). Accessibility to First-Mile Health Services: a Time-Cost Model for Rural Uganda. *Social Science & Medicine*.
- 50. Abbo, C. (2011). Profiles and outcome of traditional healing practices for severe mental illnesses in two districts of Eastern Uganda Profiles and outcome of traditional healing practices for severe mental illnesses in two districts of Eastern Uganda. *Global Health Action*, 4(1), 7117. https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v4i0.7117
- 51. Verginer, L, & Juen, B. H. (2019). Spiritual Explanatory Models of Mental Illness in West Nile, Uganda. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 50(2), 233–253. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022118813652
- 52. Tabuti, J. R. S., Dhillion, S. S., & Lye, K. A. (2003). Traditional medicine in Bulamogi county, Uganda: Its practitioners, users and viability. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 85(1), 119–129. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-8741(02)00378-1
- 53. Storer, E., & Pearson, G. (2019). Cross-Border Dynamics and Healthcare in West Nile, Uganda. Social Science in

Humanitarian Action Platform. Retrieved November 5, 2020, from https://www.socialscienceinaction.org/resources/cross-border-dynamics-healthcare-west-nile-uganda/

- 54. Langlois-Klassen, D., Kipp, W., & Rubaale, T. (2008). Who's talking? Communication between health providers and HIV-infected adults related to herbal medicine for AIDS treatment in western Uganda. *Social Science and Medicine*, 67(1), 165–176. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.02.027
- 55. Ebola, Culture and Politics: The Anthropology of an Emerging Disease. (2007). Cengage Learning.
- 56. Kuhanen, J. (2010). Challenging power and meaning: Outlining the popular epidemiology of HIV and AIDS in Rakai, Uganda, c. 1975-1990. *African Journal of AIDS Research*, 9(1), 81–94. https://doi.org/10.2989/16085906.2010.484584
- 57. Whyte, S. R. (2012). Chronicity and control: Framing noncommunicable diseases in Africa. *Anthropology and Medicine*, 19(1), 63–74. https://doi.org/10.1080/13648470.2012.660465
- 58. Geest, S. van der, & Whyte, S. R. (1989). The Charm of Medicines: Metaphors and Metonyms. *Medical Anthropology Quarterly*, *3*(4), 345–367. https://doi.org/10.1525/maq.1989.3.4.02a00030
- 59. Langlois-Klassen, D., Kipp, W., Jhangri, G. S., & Rubaale, T. (2007). Use of traditional herbal medicine by AIDS patients in Kabarole District, western Uganda. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 77(4), 757–763. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.2007.77.757
- 60. Nyamukuru, A., Tabuti, J. R. S., Lamorde, M., Kato, B., Sekagya, Y., & Aduma, P. R. (2017). Medicinal plants and traditional treatment practices used in the management of HIV/AIDS clients in Mpigi District, Uganda. *Journal of Herbal Medicine*, *7*, 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.hermed.2016.10.001
- 61. Abramowitz, S. (2017). Epidemics (Especially Ebola). *Annual Review of Anthropology*, 46(1), 421–445. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-anthro-102116-041616
- 62. Hewlett, B. S., & Amolat, R. P. (2003). Cultural contexts of Ebola in Northern Uganda. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 9(10), 1242–1248. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid0910.020493
- 63. Ario, A. R., Makumbi, I., Bulage, L., Kyazze, S., Kayiwa, J., Wetaka, M. M., ... Ocom, F. (2019). The logic model for Uganda's health sector preparedness for public health threats and emergencies. *Global Health Action*, *1*2(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2019.1664103
- 64. Osiebe, G. (2020). The Ghetto President and Presidential Challenger in Uganda. *Africa Spectrum*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002039720916085
- 65. Uganda faces food shortage as coronavirus disrupts locust fight | Uganda | Al Jazeera. (n.d.). Retrieved November 30, 2020, from https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/4/9/uganda-faces-food-shortage-as-coronavirus-disruptslocust-fight
- 66. Uganda: Floods and Landslides Oct 2019 | ReliefWeb. (n.d.). Retrieved November 30, 2020, from https://reliefweb.int/disaster/fl-2019-000163-uga
- 67. Moore, S. M., Monaghan, A., Griffith, K. S., Apangu, T., Mead, P. S., & Eisen, R. J. (2012). Improvement of Disease Prediction and Modeling through the Use of Meteorological Ensembles: Human Plague in Uganda. *PLoS ONE*, 7(9). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044431
- 68. Sekamatte, M. B., & Okwakol, M. J. N. (2007). The present knowledge on soil pests and pathogens in Uganda. African Journal of Ecology, 45(s2), 9–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0141-6707.2007.00801.x
- 69. Mboussou, F., Ndumbi, P., Ngom, R., Kamassali, Z., Ogundiran, O., Van Beek, J., ... Impouma, B. (2019). Infectious disease outbreaks in the African region: overview of events reported to the World Health Organization in 2018. *Epidemiology and infection*, 147, e299. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0950268819001912
- 70. Young, G. (2019). The State and the Origins of Informal Economic Activity: Insights from Kampala. *Urban Forum*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12132-019-09372-6
- 71. Richmond, A., Myers, I., & Namuli, H. (2018). Urban informality and vulnerability: A case study in Kampala, Uganda. *Urban Science*, 2(22).
- 72. Managing Rapid Urbanization Can Help Uganda Achieve Sustainable and Inclusive Growth. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2015/03/03/managing-rapid-urbanization-can-help-uganda-achieve-sustainable-and-inclusive-growth
- 73. Informal mechanisms for accessing and securing urban land rights: the case of Kampala, Uganda. (2007). *Environment and Urbanization*, 19(2), 509–526. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956247807082833
- 74. Urban Development Transitions and Their Implications for Poverty Reduction and Policy Planning in Uganda. (2010). Urban Forum, 21(3), 267–281. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12132-010-9090-9
- 75. Muinde, D. (2013). Assessing the effects of land tenure on urban developments in Kampala. University of Twente. Retrieved from https://www.academia.edu/download/50501762/muinde.pdf
- 76. Lindell, I., Ampaire, C., & Byerley, A. (2019). Governing urban informality: Re-working spaces and subjects in Kampala, Uganda. *International Development Planning Review*, 41(1), 63–84. https://doi.org/10.3828/idpr.2019.4
- 77. Fox, L., & Pimhidzai, O. (2013). Different Dreams, Same Bed: Collecting, Using, and Interpreting Employment Statistics in Sub-Saharan Africa - The Case of Uganda. Washington, DC: The World Bank. https://doi.org/10.1596/1813-9450-6436
- 78. Richmond, A., Myers, I., & Namuli, H. (2018). Urban Informality and Vulnerability: A Case Study in Kampala, Uganda. *Urban Science*, 2(1), 22. https://doi.org/10.3390/urbansci2010022
- 79. Agaba, J. (2020, April 17). Uganda's 'urban poor' fear dying of hunger during COVID-19 lockdown. *Alliance for Science*. Retrieved from https://allianceforscience.cornell.edu/blog/2020/04/ugandas-urban-poor-fear-dying-of-hunger-during-covid-19-lockdown/
- 80. Khat in East Africa: Taking women into or out of sex work? (2008). Substance Use & Misuse, 43(8–9), 1170–1185.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10826080801914139

- 81. World Health Organization. (2016). Global report on urban health: Equitable, healthier cities for sustainable development.
- 82. Muhumuza, R. (2019, June 18). Porous border could hinder efforts to stem spread of Ebola. *AP News*. Retrieved from https://apnews.com/article/ebfa128638c74de1838a9508a8f7dc79
- Schmidt-Sane, M. M., Nielsen, J. O., Chikombero, M., Lubowa, D., Lwanga, M., Gamusi, J., ... Kaawa-Mafigiri, D. (2020).
 Challenges to Ebola preparedness during an ongoing outbreak: An analysis of borderland livelihoods and trust in Uganda. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(3), e0230683. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0230683
- 84. Mulumba, D., & Olema, W. (2009). Policy analysis report: Mapping migration in Uganda. Retrieved from http://ir.must.ac.ug/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/454/Deborah.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- 85. Hargrave, K., Mosel, I., & Leach, A. (2020). Public narratives and attitudes towards refugees and other migrants Uganda country profile.
- 86. Mbonye, A. K., Wamala, J. F., Nanyunja, M., Opio, A., Aceng, J. R., & Makumbi, I. (2014). Ebola viral hemorrhagic disease outbreak in West Africa- lessons from Uganda. *African Health Sciences*, 14(3), 495–501. https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v14i3.1
- 87. Mbonye, A. K., & Sekamatte, M. (2018, December 1). Disease outbreaks and reporting in Uganda. *The Lancet*. Lancet Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32414-0
- 88. Mbonye, A., Wamala, J., Winyi-Kaboyo, Tugumizemo, V., Aceng, J., & Makumbi, I. (2012). Repeated outbreaks of viral hemorrhagic fevers in Uganda. *Afr Health Sci*, *12*, 579–583.
- 89. Mbonye, A., Wamala, J., Nanyunja, M., Opio, A., Makumbi, I., & Aceng, J. (2014). Ebola viral hemorrhagic disease outbreak in West Africa—lessons from Uganda. *Afr Health Sci*, *14*, 495–501.
- 90. Jones, L., & Schmidt-Sane, M. (2020). COVID-19 RCCE Strategies for Cross-Border Movement in Eastern and Southern Africa. *Social Science in Humanitarian Action Platform*. Retrieved December 1, 2020, from https://www.socialscienceinaction.org/resources/covid-19-rcce-strategies-for-cross-border-movement-in-eastern-and-southern-africa/
- 91. International Organization for Migration. (2019). *IOM Uganda Annual Report*. Kampala, Uganda. Retrieved from https://www.iom.int/sites/default/files/country/docs/uganda/iom_2019_report.pdf
- 92. Migration Policy Institute. (2020). Uganda. Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.migrationpolicy.org/country-resource/uganda
- 93. Monje, F., Ario, A. R., Musewa, A., Bainomugisha, K., Mirembe, B. B., Aliddeki, D. M., ... Zhu, B. P. (2020). A prolonged cholera outbreak caused by drinking contaminated stream water, Kyangwali refugee settlement, Hoima District, Western Uganda: 2018. *Infectious Diseases of Poverty*, 9(1), 154. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40249-020-00761-9
- 94. Oosterom, M. A. (2016). Internal displacement, the camp and the construction of citizenship: Perspectives from northern Uganda. *Journal of Refugee Studies*, 29(3), 363–387. https://doi.org/10.1093/jrs/few010
- 95. Wilkinson, A. (2020). *Key Considerations: COVID-19 in Informal Urban Settlements (March 2020).* Retrieved from https://www.socialscienceinaction.org/resources/key-considerations-covid-19-informal-urban-settlements-march-2020/
- 96. ACT Alliance. (2017). Vulnerability and resilience: A tale of survival for the fittest. Retrieved December 1, 2020, from https://reliefweb.int/report/uganda/vulnerability-and-resilience-tale-survival-fittest
- 97. Economy, M. M.-R. of A. P., & 1982, undefined. (n.d.). Karamoja: colonial roots of famine in North-East Uganda. *Taylor & Francis*. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03056248208703517
- 98. Gelsdorf, K., Maxwell, D., & Mazurana, D. (2012). *Livelihoods, basic services and social protection in Northern Uganda and Karamoja*. Retrieved from https://securelivelihoods.org/wp-content/uploads/Livelihoods-basic-services-and-social-protection-in-Northern-Uganda-and-Karamoja.pdf
- 99. CLIMATE CHANGE RISK IN KARAMOJA, UGANDA: CLIMATE SCREENING FOR FOOD SECURITY | 1. (n.d.).
- 100. Shoemaker, T. R., Nyakarahuka, L., Balinandi, S., Ojwang, J., Tumusiime, A., Mulei, S., ... Lutwama, J. (2019). First laboratory-confirmed outbreak of human and animal rift valley fever virus in Uganda in 48 years. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 100(3), 659–671. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.18-0732
- 101. Knust, B., Schafer, I., Wamala, J., & al., et. (2015). Multidistrict outbreak of Marburg Virus Disease-Uganda, 2012. J Infect Dis, 212, 119–128.
- 102. Cholera kills 11 in Kotido, 100 admitted Uganda | ReliefWeb. (n.d.). Retrieved December 1, 2020, from https://reliefweb.int/report/uganda/cholera-kills-11-kotido-100-admitted
- 103. Taking Stock of WHO's Work in Crises in Uganda Health Action in Crisis (HAC) Programme Saving Lives and Reducing Disease Burden Due to Emergencies. (n.d.).
- 104. Generations Past: Youth in East African History Google Books. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=0wqO9d6rdIMC&oi=fnd&pg=PR7&dq=burton+2010+uganda+you th&ots=VmUNwrWRmf&sig=WBzhoAQS4Yw3vJK_Ws1cEyNoKhU#v=onepage&q=burton 2010 uganda youth&f=false
- 105. Summers. (n.d.). Young Buganda and Old Boys: Youth, Generational Transition, and Ideas of Leadership in Buganda, 1920-1949 on JSTOR. Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.jstor.org/stable/4187670?casa_token=Y0xBOtdU0-4AAAAA%3AMDKowydKU73ucmQ5C_UP4qTMZb0cpzhmu_WtebLdTEJgvbD7ktfluXBGEWVGJ71TkkDIcWluLhZ vAIWAxRch03KZdTT2vjJyzqyQhWrDrW5s51X5RkED&seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents
- 106. Summers. (n.d.). Grandfathers, Grandsons, Morality, and Radical Politics in Late Colonial Buganda on JSTOR. Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.jstor.org/stable/40033965?casa_token=9IJt-McUKHkAAAA%3APt-

s7HWgQwEk0WVbYiQaateZcTJP5UydkgmHiNgKkion9w3kvF2Sz0RpIAhTJ63z3_7FVRZ2uXOLL_4RRVIkOJBx4q 2A35Q-BmxA-TJkMmJUedkxhGZz&seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents

- 107. Ugandan pop star Bobi Wine to run against Yoweri Museveni. (2019, July 24). *BBC News*. Retrieved January 27, 2020, from https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-49095214
- 108. Nyeko, O. (2020). Arrest of Uganda's Bobi Wine Spells Trouble for 2021 Election. *Human Rights Watch*. Retrieved January 27, 2020, from https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/01/09/arrest-ugandas-bobi-wine-spells-trouble-2021-election
- 109. Enaifoghe, A. O., & Muzee, H. (2020). Social media and elections in Uganda: The case of Bobi wine and the Arua primary elections. In *Social Media and Elections in Africa, Volume 1: Theoretical Perspectives and Election Campaigns* (pp. 195–213). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-30553-6_10
- 110. Jennings, L. (2019). Playing out injustice: Ugandan songwriter and politician Bobi Wine talks about how his lyrics have inspired young people to stand up against injustice and how the government has tried to silence him. *Index on Censorship*, 48(2), 77–77. https://doi.org/10.1177/0306422019858299
- 111. Boyd, L. (2014, March 20). Ugandan born-again christians and the moral politics of gender equality. *Journal of Religion in Africa*. Brill Academic Publishers. https://doi.org/10.1163/15700666-12340025
- 112. Russell, S. (2019). Men's Refashioning of Masculine Identities in Uganda and Their Self-Management of HIV Treatment. *Qualitative Health Research*, 29(8), 1199–1212. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732318823717
- 113. Wyrod, R. (2008). Between women's rights and men's authority: Masculinity and shifting discourses of gender difference in urban Uganda. *Gender and Society*, 22(6), 799–823. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891243208325888
- 114. Bergman Lodin, J., Paulson, S., & Mugenyi, M. S. (2012). New seeds, gender norms and labor dynamics in Hoima District, Uganda. *Journal of Eastern African Studies*, 6(3), 405–422. https://doi.org/10.1080/17531055.2012.696889
- 115. Stichter, S., & Parpart, J. (2019). Patriarchy and class: African women in the home and the workforce. Retrieved from

https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=CgiiDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PT6&dq=patriarchy+africa&ots=KlQY JSyJYs&sig=mU5GEMjLkikGGzOtPWhtF-H-PAg

- 116. Kyomuhendo, G. B. (2009). Culture, Pregnancy and Childbirth in Uganda: Surviving the Women's Battle (pp. 229– 234). Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-2599-9_21
- 117. Hildenwall, H., Rutebemberwa, E., tropica, X. N.-A., & 2007, undefined. (n.d.). Local illness concepts—implications for management of childhood pneumonia in eastern Uganda. *Elsevier*. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0001706X07000526
- 118. Taylor, L., Seeley, J., Review, E. K.-H. T., & 1996, undefined. (n.d.). Informal care for illness in rural southwest Uganda: the central role that women play. *JSTOR*. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/40608699
- 119. Hannington, M. (2010). *Death and funeral rites in Uganda*. VDM Verlag. Retrieved from https://www.amazon.com/DEATH-FUNERAL-RITES-UGANDA-relationship/dp/3639274644
- 120. Twesigye, J., Twikirize, J. M., Luwangula, R., & Kitimbo, S. (2019). Building resilience through indigenous mechanisms: The case of Bataka groups in Western Uganda. In *Social Work Practice in Africa*. Kampala: Fountain Publishers.
- 121. Razavi, S. (2002). Shifting burdens: Gender and agrarian change under neoliberalism. Bloomfield, CT: Kumarian Press, Inc. Retrieved from
- https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=FkFNbff5L9AC&oi=fnd&pg=PR8&dq=women+uganda+livelihood +gender+norms+shift&ots=Qm7S-YZhJd&sig=UE_5Br21vR0MTWPwe0E8VHnKAwU
- 122. Rietveld, A., Burg, M. van der, Studies, J. G.-J. of R., & 2020, U. (2020). Bridging youth and gender studies to analyse rural young women and men's livelihood pathways in Central Uganda. *Elsevier*, 75, 152–163. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0743016719305662
- 123. Smith, D., Gordon, A., Meadows, K., policy, K. Z.-F., & 2001, undefined. (n.d.). Livelihood diversification in Uganda: patterns and determinants of change across two rural districts. *Elsevier*. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0306919201000124
- 124. Kihembo, C., Masiira, B., Nakiire, L., Katushabe, E., Natseri, N., Nabukenya, I., ... Wondimagegnehu, A. (2018). The design and implementation of the re-vitalised integrated disease surveillance and response (IDSR) in Uganda, 2013-2016. *BMC Public Health*, *18*(1), 879. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5755-4
- 125. Uganda's Disease Surveillance System Proves to be Effective in Detecting and Follow up Ebola Contacts Suspected Cases | WHO | Regional Office for Africa. (n.d.). Retrieved December 1, 2020, from https://www.afro.who.int/news/ugandas-disease-surveillance-system-proves-be-effective-detecting-and-follow-ebola-contacts
- 126. How Previous Ebola Virus Disease Outbreaks Helped Uganda Respond to COVID-19 Outbreak Uganda | ReliefWeb. (n.d.). Retrieved December 1, 2020, from https://reliefweb.int/report/uganda/how-previous-ebola-virusdisease-outbreaks-helped-uganda-respond-covid-19-outbreak
- 127. Ssendagire, S., Tuhebwe, D., Kayongo, S. B., & Ssengooba, F. (n.d.). *How Has Outbreak Management Fared over the Years in Uganda? Recommendations to Improve Health System Resilience to Disease Outbreaks in Uganda.*
- 128. Second Chances: Surviving AIDS in Uganda Google Books. (n.d.). Retrieved January 9, 2020, from https://books.google.com/books?hI=en&Ir=&id=0ZyiBgAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PT8&dq=second+chances+hiv&ots= O_V2u6qJwN&sig=ULhSGtKAILj9C9I5QnRWOzHMwDc#v=onepage&q=second chances hiv&f=false
- 129. Hyrnick, T., Ripoll, S., & Carter, S. (2020). Broader Health Impacts of Vertical Responses to COVID-19 in Low- and Middle- Income Countries (LMICs). Retrieved September 30, 2020, from https://www.socialscienceinaction.org/resources/broader-health-impacts-of-vertical-responses-to-covid-19-in-

low-and-middle-income-countries-Imics/

- 130. Besigye, I. K., Mulowooza, M., & Namatovu, J. (2020). Coronavirus disease-2019 epidemic response in Uganda: The need to strengthen and engage primary healthcare. *African Journal of Primary Health Care and Family Medicine*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.4102/PHCFM.V1211.2443
- 131. Meinert, L., & Whyte, S. R. (2014). Epidemic Projectification: AIDS Responses in Uganda as Event and Process. *The Cambridge Journal of Anthropology*, *32*(1), 77–94. https://doi.org/10.3167/ca.2014.320107
- 132. Whyte, S. R. (Ed.). (2014). Second Chances. Duke University Press. https://doi.org/10.1215/9780822375975
- 133. McGrath, J. W., Winchester, M. S., Kaawa-Mafigiri, D., Walakira, E., Namutiibwa, F., Birungi, J., ... Rwabukwali, C. B. (2014). Challenging the Paradigm: Anthropological Perspectives on HIV as a Chronic Disease. *Medical Anthropology: Cross Cultural Studies in Health and Illness*, 33(4), 303–317. https://doi.org/10.1080/01459740.2014.892483
- 134. Akello, G., & Green, D. (n.d.). Preparedness, heightened response and systems strengthening for Ebola in Uganda Key Findings.
- 135. Lumu, I. (2020). COVID-19 Response in Sub-Saharan Africa: Lessons From Uganda. *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness*, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1017/dmp.2020.248
- 136. Uganda: Government Measures to Slow the Spread of COVID-19 | Global Legal Monitor. (2020). Retrieved from https://www.loc.gov/law/foreign-news/article/uganda-government-measures-to-slow-the-spread-of-covid-19/
- 137. Uganda: Respect Rights in COVID-19 Response | Human Rights Watch. (n.d.). Retrieved November 10, 2020, from https://www.hrw.org/news/2020/04/02/uganda-respect-rights-covid-19-response#
- 138. Road Safety Performance Review Uganda Road Safety Performance Review Uganda UNITED NATIONS ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR AFRICA UNITED NATIONS ECONOMIC COMMISSION FOR EUROPE Information Service United Nations Economic Commission for Europe. (2018).
- 139. World Bank Open Data | Data. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://data.worldbank.org/
- 140. Uganda SEforALL Africa Hub. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.se4all-africa.org/seforall-inafrica/country-data/uganda/
- 141. About Uganda | State House Uganda. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.statehouse.go.ug/about-uganda
- 142. Green, E. (2008). DISTRICT CREATION AND DECENTRALISATION IN UGANDA Crisis States Working Papers Series No.2 Crisis States Research Centre District Creation and Decentralisation in Uganda. Retrieved from http://www.statoids.com/uug.html
- 143. Green, E. (2015). Decentralization and development in contemporary Uganda Article (Accepted version) (Refereed) Decentralization and Development in Contemporary Uganda. *Regional and Federal Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1080/13597566.2015.1114925
- 144. Awortwi, N. (2011). An unbreakable path? A comparative study of decentralization and local government development trajectories in Ghana and Uganda. *International Review of Administrative Sciences*, 77(2), 347–377. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020852311399844
- 145. Bardhan, P. (2002, September). Decentralization of governance and development. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*. https://doi.org/10.1257/089533002320951037
- 146. Furley, O. (2000). Democratisation in Uganda. *Commonwealth & Comparative Politics*, 38(3), 79–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/14662040008447827
- 147. Lewis, J. I. (2014). When Decentralization Leads to Recentralization: Subnational State Transformation in Uganda. *Regional and Federal Studies*, 24(5), 571–588. https://doi.org/10.1080/13597566.2014.971771
- 148. Manyak, T. G. (n.d.). Decentralization and Conflict in Uganda: Governance Adrift. Retrieved from http://www.africa.ufl.edu/asq/v11/v11i4a1.pdf
- 149. Nabaho, L. (2013). Recentralization of local government chief administrative officers appointments in Uganda: Implications for downward accountability. *Commonwealth Journal of Local Governance*, *0*(13–14), 17–29. https://doi.org/10.5130/cjlg.v0i13/14.3721
- 150. Saito, F. (2012). Decentralization and development partnership: lessons from Uganda. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=4ibyCAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR5&dq=uganda+decentralization& ots=yRm_oK0LO4&sig=a2OEVmrVW03xPfxuKJIsIh5ohqE
- 151. Jeppsson, A., & Okuonzi, S. A. (2000). Vertical or holistic decentralization of the health sector? Experiences from Zambia and Uganda. *International Journal of Health Planning and Management*, 15(4), 273–289. https://doi.org/10.1002/hpm.597
- 152. Bashaasha, B., & Mangheni, M. N. (2011). *Decentralization and rural service delivery in Uganda*. Retrieved from http://www.ifpri.org/publications/results/taxonomy%3A468.
- 153. Lambright, G. (2011). Decentralization in Uganda: Explaining successes and failures in local governance. Retrieved from https://www.rienner.com/title/Decentralization_in_Uganda_Explaining_Successes_and_Failures_in_Local_Gover
- nance 154. African Tribes and European Agencies - Colonialism and Humanitarianism. (1967). Journal of African History, 8(2), 357–359. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021853700007180
- 155. Africa's Indigenous Democracies: The Baganda of Uganda. (2011). Basingstoke: Palgrave.
- 156. Isiko, A. P. (2020). Religious construction of disease: An exploratory appraisal of religious responses to the COVID-19 pandemic in Uganda. *Journal of African Studies and Development*, 12(3), 77–96.
- 157. Gilson, L. (2003). Trust and the development of health care as a social institution. Social Science & Medicine, 56(7),

1453–1468.

- 158. The Tightening Chain Civil Society and Uganda's Response to HIV/AIDS. (2008) (Vol. 20). Berkeley: Univ California Press.
- 159. Kankya, C., Akandinda, A., & Rwabukwali, C. B. (2013). The role of civil society organisations (CSOs) in healthcare delivery system: A case study of child immunisation in Kabarole district, Uganda. *Health*.
- 160. Pfeiffer, J., & Chapman, R. (2010). Anthropological Perspectives on Structural Adjustment and Public Health. Annual Review of Anthropology, 39(1), 149–165. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.anthro.012809.105101
- 161. World Health Organization. (2019). Strengthening infection prevention and control and quality in health care for resilient health services Tackling Deadly Diseases in Africa Programme (TDDAP) report of the WHO regional and country capacity development workshop Kampala, Uganda 23–25 October.
- 162. Grebe, E. (2012). Civil society leadership in the struggle for AIDS treatment in South Africa and Uganda. In SSRN 2549636.
- 163. Luwangula, R., Twikirize, J. M., Twesigye, J., & Kitimbo, S. (2019). Culturally Responsive Social Work Practice in Uganda: A Review of Selected Innovative and Indigenous Models. *Social Work Practice in Africa*, 125.
- 164. Okuga, M., Kemigisa, M., Namutamba, S., Namazzi, G., & Waiswa, P. (2015). Engaging community health workers in maternal and newborn care in eastern Uganda Engaging community health workers in maternal and newborn care in eastern Uganda. *Global Health Action*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.3402/gha.v8.23968
- 165. Mukanga, D., Tibenderana, J. K., Peterson, S., Pariyo, G. W., Kiguli, J., Waiswa, P., ... Kallander, K. (2012). Access, acceptability and utilization of community health workers using diagnostics for case management of fever in Ugandan children: A cross-sectional study. *Malaria Journal*, 11(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2875-11-121
- 166. Kayemba Nalwadda, C., Guwatudde, D., Waiswa, P., Kiguli, J., Namazzi, G., Namutumba, S., ... Peterson, S. (2013). Community health workers - a resource for identification and referral of sick newborns in rural Uganda. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, 18(7), 898–906. https://doi.org/10.1111/tmi.12106
- 167. Brenner, J. L., Kabakyenga, J., Kyomuhangi, T., Wotton, K. A., Pim, C., Ntaro, M., ... Singhal, N. (2011, December 14). Can volunteer community health workers decrease child morbidity and mortality in southwestern Uganda? An impact evaluation. *PLoS ONE*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0027997
- 168. Abbo, C., Ekblad, S., Waako, P., Okello, E., Muhwezi, W., & Musisi, S. (2008). Psychological distress and associated factors among the attendees of traditional healing practices in Jinja and Iganga districts, Eastern Uganda: A cross-sectional study. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-4458-2-16
- 169. Green, E. C. (2000). Traditional healers and AIDS in Uganda. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*. Mary Ann Liebert Inc. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2000.6.1
- 170. Katuura, E., Waako, P., Ogwal-Okeng, J., & Bukenya-Ziraba, R. (2007). Traditional treatment of malaria in Mbarara District, western Uganda. *African Journal of Ecology*, 45(SUPPL. 1), 48–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2028.2007.00737.x
- 171. Adia, M., Anywar, G., ... R. B.-J. of, & 2014, undefined. (n.d.). Medicinal plants used in malaria treatment by Prometra herbalists in Uganda. *Elsevier*. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0378874114004292?casa_token=n7XihdZTKKEAAAAA:P1THa w2vfp-Ff53Wa_vV4hGphus5cAVbXxaqXoMvZA-ANN0r49r_jMdDwHDNDae5DIK5zL6JQRY
- 172. Anywar, G., Kakudidi, E., Byamukama, R., brief, J. M.-D. in, & 2020, undefined. (n.d.). Data on medicinal plants used by herbalists for boosting immunity in people living with HIV/AIDS in Uganda. *Elsevier*. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2352340919314532
- 173. Uganda's military cracked down on illegal fishing in Lake Victoria. Has it worked? (n.d.). Retrieved October 27, 2020, from https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/2019/05/uganda-military-cracks-down-illegal-fishing-lake-victoria/
- 174. Govt Sets New Licensing Fees For Fishermen, Dealers. (n.d.). Retrieved October 27, 2020, from https://www.newvision.co.ug/news/1529930/govt-sets-licensing-fees-fishermen-dealers
- 175. WHO works with the Army to educate a fishing community about COVID-19 in Uganda Uganda | ReliefWeb. (n.d.). Retrieved October 27, 2020, from https://reliefweb.int/report/uganda/who-works-army-educate-fishing-community-about-covid-19-uganda
- 176. Dickmann, P., Kitua, A., Apfel, F., & Lightfoot, N. (2018). Kampala manifesto: Building community-based One Health approaches to disease surveillance and response—The Ebola Legacy—Lessons from a peer-led capacity-building initiative. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, *1*2(4), e0006292. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0006292
- 177. United Nations Development Program. (2019). *Human Development Report 2019: Inequalities in Human Development in the 21st Century (Uganda).* Retrieved from http://hdr.undp.org/en/data
- 178. World Bank. (n.d.). Uganda Overview. Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/uganda/overview
- 179. Wang, X., Rafa, M., Moyer, J. D., Li, J., Scheer, J., & Sutton, P. (2009). Estimation and Mapping of Sub-National GDP in Uganda Using NPP-VIIRS Imagery. *Remote Sensing*, *11*, 163.
- 180. Oxfam. (2018). Who is Growing? Ending Inequality in Uganda. Kampala, Uganda.
- 181. Alliance, C. (2018). Uganda: The role of the informal economy in city growth. Retrieved from https://www.citiesalliance.org/sites/default/files/PB_Uganda_WEB.pdf
- 182. Uganda | Culture, History, & People | Britannica. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.britannica.com/place/Uganda
- 183. Jones, B. (2009). *Beyond the State in Rural Uganda*. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press Ltd. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=ZAurBgAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR5&dq=jones+2009+beyond+the+s

tate&ots=TLjegZfJH9&sig=zWOldm5Fl4KAqjN0il5ixwcbqKA#v=onepage&q=jones 2009 beyond the state&f=false
 184. Urbanization in Sub-Saharan Africa | Center for Strategic and International Studies. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.csis.org/analysis/urbanization-sub-saharan-africa

- 185. World Urbanization Prospects Population Division United Nations. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2020, from https://population.un.org/wup/
- 186. Ssewanyana, S., & Kasirye, I. (2012). Poverty and inequality dynamics in Uganda: Insights from the Uganda national Panel Surveys 2005/6 and 2009/10. https://doi.org/10.22004/AG.ECON.148953
- 187. Ssewanyama, N., Okidi, J., Angemi, D., & Barungi, V. (2004). Understanding the Determinants of Income Inequality in Uganda. *Oxford University Research Archive*.
- 188. Gartrell, B. (1983). British Administrators, Colonial Chiefs, and the Comfort of Tradition: An Example from Uganda. *African Studies Review*, 26(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.2307/524608
- 189. Apter, D. (1997). The political kingdom in Uganda: A study in bureaucratic nationalism (3rd ed.). Oxon: Routledge.
- 190. Burke, F. G. (1964). Local government and politics in Uganda. Syracuse: Syracuse University Press.
- 191. History, B. T.-R.-T. J. of, & 1976, undefined. (n.d.). The British Imposition of Colonial Rule on Uganda: The Baganda Agents in Kigezi (1908-1930). *JSTOR*. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/24520290
- 192. Doornbos, M. (2019). Not all the King's Men: inequality as a political instrument in Ankole, Uganda. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=b_2gDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR5&dq=uganda+and+%22british+ colonialism%22&ots=th2ENWiH8U&sig=Kxl_uU49bIOTmy7sQnS5qX7HPiA
- 193. Studies, M. D.-T. I. J. of A. H., & 1976, undefined. (n.d.). Ethnicity, Christianity, and the Development of Social Stratification in Colonial Ankole, Uganda. *JSTOR*. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/217012?casa_token=TGcITRH26WAAAAAA:Zk7YpvPvlaBpw34Pvyqbc5ejO4q68cvdHSfoFLulhZLg7nCqdSF1NahiBw-VIrc3Yk0tRUSUyyPSZujTzAs_owJ6SirAzL389xWfoWCj3rIkBC1XH3
- 194. Lange, M. (2009). *Lineages of despotism and development: British colonialism and state power*. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=xYxeKGCg9XoC&oi=fnd&pg=PR5&dq=uganda+and+%22british+c olonialism%22&ots=UCAENHRObg&sig=EvJc6Wwp4b4epltK4aXF-cMAYHU
- 195. Amone, C., & Muura, O. (2014). British Colonialism and the Creation of Acholi Ethnic Identity in Uganda, 1894 to 1962. Journal of Imperial and Commonwealth History, 42(2), 239–257. https://doi.org/10.1080/03086534.2013.851844
- 196. Mamdani, M. (1996). Citizen and Subject | Princeton University Press. Retrieved from https://press.princeton.edu/books/paperback/9780691180427/citizen-and-subject
- 197. Reid, R. (2017). A history of modern Uganda. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=zDQEDgAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR7&dq=uganda+colonial+history &ots=WjdTKJL67L&sig=L7031UbEpGl3DGvK5-1pGn-DEwc
- 198. Chrétien, J.-P. (2006). The Great Lakes of Africa: Two Thousand Years of History. Zone Books. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books/about/The_Great_Lakes_of_Africa.html?id=Ezo5PQAACAAJ
- 199. Nkurunziza, E. (2006). Two states, one city? Conflict and accommodation in land delivery in Kampala, Uganda. International Development Planning Review, 28(2), 159–180. https://doi.org/10.3828/idpr.28.2.3
- 200. Culture and Customs of Uganda. (2006). Greenwood Publishing Group.
- 201. Leopold, M. (2005). Inside West Nile. Violence, History, & Representation on An African Frontier. Kampala: Fountain Publishers.
- 202. Finnstrom, S. (2010). An African hell of colonial imagination? : The Lord's Resistance Army in Uganda, another story. In T. Allen & K. Vlassenroot (Eds.), *The Lord's Resistance Army: Myth and reality* (pp. 74–89). London: Zed Books. Retrieved from https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2%3A321696&dswid=20
- 203. Khadiagala, G. M. (2010). Boundaries in eastern africa. *Journal of Eastern African Studies*, 4(2), 266–278. https://doi.org/10.1080/17531055.2010.487337
- 204. Leopold, M. (2009). Crossing the line: 100 years of the North-West Uganda/South Sudan border. *Journal of Eastern African Studies*, 3(3), 464–478. https://doi.org/10.1080/17531050903273743
- 205. Cheikh Anta Babou. (2010). Decolonization or National Liberation: Debating the End of British Colonial Rule in Africa. The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 632(1), 41–54. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716210378647
- 206. Gifford, P. (1988). Decolonization and African independence : the transfers of power, 1960-1980. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- 207. Citizen and Subject: Contemporary Africa and the Legacy of Late Colonialism. (1996). Princeton University Press.
- 208. Kibanja, G. M., Kajumba, M. M., & Johnson, L. R. (2012). Ethnocultural Conflict in Uganda: Politics Based on Ethnic Divisions Inflame Tensions Across the Country (pp. 403–435). Springer, Boston, MA. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-0448-4_16
- 209. Military Rule in Uganda: The Politics of Survival. (1974). African Studies Review, 17(1), 229–260. https://doi.org/10.2307/523588
- 210. A Further Comment on the 1971 Uganda Coup. (1972). *The Journal of Modern African Studies*, *10*(4), 638–639. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022278X00022904
- 211. Ideology and Politics in Uganda: from Obote to Amin. (1977). ASA Review of Books, 3, 50–52. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0364168600000906
- 212. Notes on the Civil and Political Strife in Uganda. (1982). *African Issues*, 12(1–2), 41–44. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1548450500002997

- 213. The unsteady state: Uganda, Obote and General Amin: Review of African Political Economy: Vol 3, No 5. (n.d.). Retrieved April 29, 2018, from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03056248108703275
- 214. Saul, J. S. (1976). The Unsteady State: Uganda, Obote and General Amin. *Review of African Political Economy*, 3(5), 12–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/03056248108703275
- 215. law, B. B.-I. J. of the sociology of, & 2004, undefined. (n.d.). Popular justice and policing from bush war to democracy: Uganda 1981–2004. *infona.pl.* Retrieved from https://www.infona.pl/resource/bwmeta1.element.elsevier-8cf56d82-be91-326e-9e47-ecacbe0155c7
- 216. The Challenge of Democratic Pluralism in Uganda. (1991). *African Issues*, 20(1), 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1548450500004194
- 217. Uganda Under Museveni. (2001). African Studies Review, 44(2), 207–210. https://doi.org/10.2307/525585
- 218. Bigsten, A., & Kayizzi-Mugerwa, S. (1992). Adaptation and distress in the urban economy: A study of Kampala households. *World Development*, 20(10), 1423–1441. https://doi.org/10.1016/0305-750X(92)90064-3
- 219. Bigsten, A., Kayizzi-Mugerwa, S., & Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2001). *Is Uganda an emerging economy?: a report for the OECD project Emerging Africa*. Nordiska Afrikainstitutet.
- 220. Income inequality, social cohesion and the health status of populations: The role of neo-liberalism. (n.d.). Social Science & Medicine, 51, 135–146.
- 221. Ganti, T. (2014). Neoliberalism. Annual Review of Anthropology, 43(1), 89–104. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevanthro-092412-155528
- 222. GINI index (World Bank estimate) | Data. (n.d.). Retrieved January 6, 2020, from https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SI.POV.GINI
- 223. Kappel, R., Lay, J., & Steiner, S. (2005). Uganda: No more pro-poor growth? *Development Policy Review*, 23(1), 27– 53. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7679.2005.00275.x
- 224. Okuonzi, S. A. (2004, November 13). Learning from failed health reform in Uganda. *British Medical Journal*. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.329.7475.1173
- 225. Kajula, P. W., Kintu, F., Barugahare, J., & Neema, S. (2004). Political analysis of rapid change in Uganda's health financing policy and consequences on service delivery for malaria control. *International Journal of Health Planning and Management*, 19(SUPPL. 1). https://doi.org/10.1002/hpm.772
- 226. Nabyonga Orem, J., Mugisha, F., Kirunga, C., Macq, J., & Criel, B. (2011). Abolition of user fees: the Uganda paradox. *Health Policy and Planning*, 26(Suppl. 2), ii41–ii51. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czr065
- 227. Xu, K., Evans, D. B., Kadama, P., Nabyonga, J., Ogwal, P. O., Nabukhonzo, P., & Aguilar, A. M. (2006). Understanding the impact of eliminating user fees: Utilization and catastrophic health expenditures in Uganda. *Social Science and Medicine*, 62(4), 866–876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.07.004
- 228. Odaga, J. (2004). Health Policy and Development HEALTH INEQUITY IN UGANDA: THE ROLE OF FINANCIAL AND NON-FINANCIAL BARRIERS. *Health Policy and Development Journal*, 2(3), 192–208. Retrieved from http://ir.umu.ac.ug//handle/20.500.12280/1433
- 229. Nazerali, H., Oteba, M. O., Mwoga, J., & Zaramba, S. (2006). Medicines–driving demand for health services in Uganda? *Health Systems Reform in Uganda*.
- 230. Chandler, C. I., Kizito, J., Taaka, L., Nabirye, C., Kayendeke, M., DiLiberto, D., & Staedke, S. G. (2013). Aspirations for quality health care in Uganda: How do we get there? *Human Resources for Health*, *11*(1), 1–12.
- 231. Southall, A. W., Gutkind, P. C. W., & Sempa, Ă. K. (1957). *Townsmen in the making* (2nd ed.). Kampala, Uganda: East African Institute of Social Research.
- 232. Obbo, C. (1980). African women: their struggle for economic independence. *African women: their struggle for economic independence.*
- 233. Awumbila, M. (2017). Drivers of Migration and Urbanization in Africa: Key Trends and Issues Drivers of Migration and Urbanization in Africa: Key Trends and Issues Background Paper prepared for UN Expert Group Meeting on Sustainable Cities, Human Mobility and International Migration.
- 234. Mukwaya, P. I., Sengendo, H., & Lwasa, S. (2010). Urban Development Transitions and Their Implications for Poverty Reduction and Policy Planning in Uganda. *Urban Forum*, *2*1, 267–281.
- 235. Malingha, D., & Ojambo, F. (2019, September 3). The Big Threat to Uganda's President Is a 37-Year-Old Pop Star. Bloomberg News. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2019-09-03/pop-star-touts-peoplepower-in-bid-to-topple-ugandan-strongman
- 236. Uganda -- Ethnic Groups. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.africa.upenn.edu/NEH/u-ethn.html
- 237. High seroconversion rate to Rift Valley fever virus in cattle and goats in far northern KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, in the absence of reported outbreaks. (2019). *Plos Neglected Tropical Diseases*, 13(5), e0007296. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0007296
- 238. UBOS. (2019). Census population.
- 239. Northern Uganda: Understanding and Solving the Conflict | Crisis Group. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.crisisgroup.org/africa/horn-africa/uganda/northern-uganda-understanding-and-solving-conflict
- 240. Finnström, S. (2008). Living with bad surroundings: War, history, and everyday moments in northern Uganda. Retrieved from https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=zhyrjGrtbkC&oi=fnd&pg=PP8&dq=uganda+colonial+history&ots=78BkKsoOys&sig=RyPzTHe3-7Al3rnJnGLoGJGOxms
- 241. Rohner, D., Thoenig, M., & Zilibotti, F. (2013). Seeds of distrust: Conflict in Uganda. *Journal of Economic Growth*, 18(3), 217–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10887-013-9093-1
- 242. Golooba-Mutebi. (2011). Settling the Buganda Question. *Transition*, (106), 10. https://doi.org/10.2979/transition.106b.10

- 243. Kingdom, Government Clash In Uganda: NPR. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=123710230
- 244.The question of Buganda in contemporary Ugandan politics: Journal of Contemporary African Studies: Vol 15, No2.(n.d.).RetrievedApril22,2018,fromhttps://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02589009708729610?journalCode=cjca20
- 245. Bobi's NUP, Buganda and tribalism Daily Monitor. (n.d.). Retrieved October 26, 2020, from https://www.monitor.co.ug/uganda/special-reports/bobi-s-nup-buganda-and-tribalism-1928974
- 246. Bobi Wine and the beginning of the end of Museveni's power | Uganda | Al Jazeera. (n.d.). Retrieved January 3, 2020, from https://www.aljazeera.com/indepth/opinion/bobi-wine-beginning-museveni-power-180828111608108.html
- 247. Matovu, S., Rankin, S., & Wallhagen, M. (2020). Ugandan Jajjas: Antecedents and rewards of caring for grandchildren in the context of HIV. *International Journal of Older People Nursing*, 15(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/opn.12304